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The Hon Dr Kim Hames MLA 

Minister for Tourism

In accordance with section 61(1) of the Financial Management Act 2006 and in fulfilment of obligations imposed on the 

Authority by the Rottnest Island Authority Act 1987, we hereby submit for your information and presentation to Parliament 

the Annual Report of the Rottnest Island Authority for the year ended 30 June 2012.

This report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006.

John Driscoll Stephen Lauder

CHAIRMAN DEPUTY CHAIRMAN

19 September 2012 19 September 2012

MARk JONESJOHN CARROLL



Annual Report   2011-2012           3




















R E P O R T  S U M M A R Y
Number of tourists to Rottnest Island continues to fluctuate within a band 
of 450,000 to 550,000 due to variations in the local economy, weather patterns, 

currency exchange rates fluctuations and overseas events

Rottnest Island met or exceeded the expectations of 97% of its visitors

The Rottnest Island Authority’s cash flow remained positive in a challenging 

economic environment

Rottnest Island Management Plan 2009-2014 progressed with $3.3 million expended 
on planned initiatives

Another $1.5 million was allocated for the holiday 
accommodation refurbishment program

Aboriginal Reconciliation Plan was implemented to 2012 stage including:

•	 More	than	90%	of	all	permanent	employees	have	undertaken	Cross-Cultural	Awareness	Training

•	 Welcome	to	Country	message	included	on	the	Fremantle	ferry	service	and	audio	announcement	

located at the point of arrival to greet all visitors

•	 Over	20,000	‘Wadjemup	Message	Stick’	brochures	distributed	to	Island	visitors

Five major research projects were sponsored to the value  
of $50,000 plus 29 other research permits granted to universities and other research bodies

More than $3.4 million was spent on capital works including:

•	 Replacement	of	the	West	End	Boardwalk

•	 Improvements	to	the	Geordie	Bay	Jetty,	Waste	Water	Treatment	Plant	and	Powerhouse

•	 Upgrade	of	Campground	to	first	stage

•	 Replacement	of	barbeques	across	the	Island

•	 New	sofas	for	holiday	accommodation	units

Significant reduction in infringements issued, due to a greater focus 

on visitor education

Significant upgrade to the landfill facility improved the Island’s waste 

management practices
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Rottnest Island was the winner  
of the Major Tourist Attraction 
award at the Western Australian 
Tourism Awards in 2011.

C H A I R M A N ’ S   O v E R v I E w

It is with mixed emotions that I commence 

this, my last contribution as Chairman, to 

an Annual Report of the Rottnest Island 

Authority. It gives me the opportunity to 

reflect on the eight years that I have had 

the privilege to hold this office. It is clear 

to all that Rottnest gets in your blood when 

you spend as much time on the Authority 

as I have. You get very much identified with 

it. You get praised for the good things and 

blamed for the bad.

It is not, of course, a matter of personal 

praise or blame. What happens on Rottnest 

is a complex result of input from a number 

of disparate quarters – Government, 

Authority members, staff, volunteers and 

the public. The positive comments relate 

to the general tidiness of the Island. New 

developments such as Hotel Rottnest, the 

relocation of the Dôme Cafè, improvements 

to the General Store and Bakery all come 

together to give the “reinvigorated” feel 

that people, who have not been there for a 

while, remark on.

A strong message that Rottnest Island was 

being seen as offering a good tourism 

product was put out for all to see in 

November last year when it was named 

the winner of the “Major Tourist Attraction” 

category at the Western Australian 

Tourism Awards. This was a very positive 

endorsement of the great work being done 

by staff at all levels.

This is a major turnaround from 2003 

when, following the Auditor General’s 

Turning the Tide report, it was 

acknowledged by the Authority that 

sections of the Island’s accommodation 

may be closed to public access unless 

there was a concerted effort to bring 

the Island facilities up to an acceptable 

standard. The resultant Taskforce Report 

set out the blueprint for this essential 

upgrade, and, with Government funding, 

the situation has been largely rectified. As 

a result, the Authority’s accommodation 

has undergone considerable upgrading 

in recent years with a Reserve Fund now 

in place to maintain the standard. This 

standard, while showing incremental 

improvements in facilities, is never intended 

to reach a luxury level that makes it a “no 

go” zone for kids with sand on their feet. 

That would just not be Rottnest.

Laurie O’Meara AM  

CHAIRMAN (until 30/06/2012)
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It has become increasingly evident, 

however, that a growing percentage of 

our population and, no doubt, interstate 

and overseas visitors, have different 

expectations. Clearly the Authority is not 

in a position to provide higher standard 

accommodation and, even if it were, 

the time is coming where this has to be 

the responsibility of the private sector. 

Although the Authority is still in discussion 

regarding the construction of a hotel at 

Longreach Bay, there are other proposals 

on the table which look to get this trend 

started.

It is very encouraging to note the 

increasing interest of the private sector in 

carrying out substantial investment on the 

Island, and equally encouraging that the 

community is coming to realise that the 

continued future of Rottnest as a holiday 

island is going to require a joint public/

private approach to development.

There is a proposal to upgrade and expand 

the Rottnest Lodge that may see the 

Quod separated from the lease and new 

accommodation built overlooking Garden 

Lake. This could result in an expansion 

of accommodation and facilities to 

international standards offering a wider 

range of choice to all Island visitors. There 

is also a proposal to release the site 

immediately south of the Hotel Rottnest 

to enable the construction by private 

interests of further accommodation units. 

If approved, these will be leased and 

operated by the private sector.

At the other end of the scale, a major 

upgrade and extension of the campground 

adjacent to the oval is in the pipeline. 

It will have new ablution facilities and 

a camp kitchen with convenient, level 

sites. Camping has always been popular 

on Rottnest and this new area will 

accommodate the adventure market for 

years ahead.

There has been considerable feedback 

in recent times indicating that holidays 

at Rottnest are becoming too expensive. 

I view this perception from two different 

directions. Is the perception a result of 

the public affair that holidaymakers are 

having with alternate destinations like 

Bali? Or conversely, is it more a matter of 

what value our guests are getting for their 

money? The intensified Bali competition 

could be seen as a short-term affair 

impacted by the strength of the Australian 

dollar. In time, I believe it will be seen to 

lack the safety and relaxation that Rottnest 

has to offer. But to bring them back, 

Rottnest has to offer more for the money 

spent to come and stay.

The improved accommodation, both in 

choice and standard, is a part of the 

answer. Equally important is the need to 

have more things for people to do while 

they are on the Island. This matter is at the 

forefront of the Authority’s planning for the 

future. A significant start is the decision 

to carry out a major upgrade of the golf 

course. Golf is a game that many more 

would play if they had the time. Rottnest 

holidays provide lots of time.

A major milestone that was recognised 

during the year was the 50 years that 

Monsignor Sean O’Shea has spent as the 

Catholic priest on the Island. His term of 

office went back to the days of saying 

Mass in the picture hall before the church 

was built. During the celebration, the story 

was told that the regulars at the Sunday 

session at the hotel always recognised the 

arrival of the churchgoers by their dusty 

knees! The Monsignor was instrumental 

in having the present church built and has 

been a smiling mobile tourist information 

centre during his long involvement 

at Rottnest. We wish him well in his 

retirement.

As I reflect on my 12 years as a member 

of the Authority, I note with pleasure the 

many small but significant changes/

improvements that have been made. 

Sanctuary zones, at the time a headline 

issue, are now regarded as an important 

and accepted initiative. 

It is very encouraging to  
note the increasing 
interest of the private 
sector in carrying out 
substantial investment  
on the Island.
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The shared mooring system has laid the 

base for a fairer and more equitable use 

of this cherished privilege. The convenient 

beach mooring facilities appeared without 

fanfare, but are a very much appreciated 

innovation for the casual boating visitor. 

The replacement of the old hotel jetty 

with a solid new structure is a welcome 

addition, as is the recently reconstructed 

jetty at Geordie Bay.

The events which I have had the privilege 

to initiate or enhance have become 

important dates on the Rottnest calendar. 

High among these are the Anzac Day 

ceremony, the Volunteers breakfast, the 

Wadjemup Cup, the Des Sullivan Medal 

presentation and the Chairman’s Cup – 

the opening event of the Rottnest Island 

Country Club season. All of these activities 

and improvements are the result of the 

combined passion and commitment of the 

various members of the Authority over the 

years and with the valuable support of the 

Chief Executive Officer, Paolo Amaranti, 

and his staff. These achievements 

have been assisted by the interest and 

encouragement of the various Ministers for 

Tourism on behalf of the State Government.

There is still much to do. I am delighted 

that the Chairmanship of the Authority has 

been taken on by a person of the calibre 

of John Driscoll. John’s strong marketing 

background and commercial experience 

will be important as the Authority 

addresses what I see to be the need for 

some major changes of direction. The 

Government and the holidaying public of 

Western Australia will need to understand 

how essential this change is to the ongoing 

viability of Rottnest Island as a tourism 

icon.

So there it is. The catch cry of the Whitlam 

campaign in 1974 comes to mind. “It’s 

Time.” In concluding, I thank the many 

people who have shown support and 

perhaps forbearance during my term of 

office. I wish the Authority every success 

with the continuing challenges that lie 

ahead.

ELAINE STACEY

COLEEN MINSON

ELAINE STACEY

kEVIN TOOVEY

ROb SMITHSON
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Rottnest Island met or  
exceeded the expectations  
of 97% of its visitors.

C H I E f  E X E C U T I v E  
O f f I C E R ’ S  R E P O R T

Paolo Amaranti  

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

It has been a momentous year for Rottnest 

Island as we were recognised by our peers 

in the tourism industry as the State’s 

premier major tourism destination in 

November 2011 at the Western Australian 

Tourism Awards. Rottnest Express was 

similarly distinguished with two gold 

medals and Dôme Café was a bronze 

medal winner in the hotly contested 

“Cafes and Restaurants” category. These 

awards are a reflection of the hard work 

and professionalism of my staff, Island 

businesses and our volunteers, and I thank 

everyone most sincerely for their invaluable 

contributions to these outstanding results.

The Authority experienced a net accounting 

loss of $1.1 million for the year, although 

a corresponding net positive cash flow of 

$1.6 million was achieved. The accounting 

loss is mainly attributable to a decrease 

in visitor numbers and unexpected 

expenditure of safety and compliance 

matters to the value of $800,000. The 

Authority members and I are concerned 

about the financial result and we have 

already identified strategies to address 

the situation, including more marketing 

to increase sales revenue and product 

development such as the upgrade to the 

Island’s golf course. 

Setting ourselves realistic goals in an 

unpredictable tourism climate, with a 

strong Australian dollar and attractiveness 

of overseas destinations, we have this year 

achieved and exceeded the benchmarks 

we set ourselves. Most significantly we 

have enhanced our visitors’ satisfaction 

levels	with	Rottnest	Island,	from	94%	 

last	year	to	an	unprecedented	97%	in	

2011-12. Improved satisfaction levels 

across a range of Island services and 

facilities have been achieved, reflecting our 

continuing investment in improving facilities 

and services with a focus on quality 

customer service.

The value of Rottnest Island to the 

economy of Western Australia has been 

estimated at more than $117 million 

annually1. During the year, a comprehensive 

survey of Western Australians who visit the 

Island, and just as important, those who do 

not, has been undertaken. The results of 

this survey, which provide us with an up-to-

date insight into what the public expect of 

‘their	Island’	in	the	21st	Century,	will	form	

the basis of our marketing and business 

development during the coming years.

During the year the Authority, the Rottnest 

Island Business Community and Rottnest 

Express jointly contributed to a $480,000 

marketing venture through the Love My 
Rotto advertising campaign and Telethon 
Tuesdays. We have undertaken additional 

marketing of our accommodation in winter, 

providing value for money packages 

which included ferry fares, bike hire and 

Bayseeker bus tickets. We have also 

ramped up our e-marketing initiatives and 

online presence, maintaining our occupancy 

levels at well above those experienced 

generally in the tourism industry. A new 

initiative has been the extended stay option 

for those visitors wanting a longer stay on 

the Island up to a maximum of 16 weeks.

JULIA bURNS

1 Based on Authority and State Tourism 
Satellite Accounts 2009-2010, 
Tourism Research Australia
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A focus on decreasing operating 

expenditure together with an increased 

yield	per	visitor	of	9.5%	during	the	year,	

have contributed to a positive cash flow 

achieved for the year. This is despite 

an increase in the average cost of the 

natural environment and cultural heritage 

management per Reserve hectare, 

exceeding	our	target	for	the	year	by	9.26%	

to $790, and declining visitor numbers.

The Authority has been able to 

allocate $1.5 million for its ongoing 

accommodation refurbishment programme, 

with a total of $3.3 million spent on 

planned initiatives outlined in Rottnest 

Island Management Plan 2009-14, with all 

major initiatives progressing well.

A great deal of work on implementing 

environmental management standards 

and remediation of visitor impact has 

been carried out during the year. All 

environmental management performance 

targets have been met or exceeded. With 

the generous support of the Rottnest 

Foundation providing $200,000, we have 

been able to replace the outdated and 

unsafe West End Boardwalk with a new 

wheelchair friendly walk trail, made of 

recycled and recyclable materials.  

Opened by the Hon Dr Kim Hames MLA 

in October 2011, this section of walk trail 

represents the first of what is intended to 

be a staged projected circumferential trail 

around the Island.

Visitor services and safety projects 

include the secondment of a FESA 

fire officer to update and improve the 

Island’s preparedness. Signage and track 

realignments, fencing replacements and 

access stairs upgrades have been carried 

out, as well as dune rehabilitation, with 

funding support from Coastwest.

The Authority continued to provide 

community education on Rottnest Island 

through the delivery of a formal curriculum-

linked education program to school and 

youth groups, community activities through 

school holiday programs and professional 

development courses for teachers. 

More than 4,000 students and teachers 

from 91 schools have participated in 

curriculum-linked activities through the 

year as part of the school education 

program. More than 5,500 children and 

adults participated in school holiday 

activity programs run in collaboration 

with the Rottnest Island Volunteer Guides 

Association, Recfishwest, Fisheries, 

Tangaroa Blue and Birds Australia.

Development of visitor experiences has 

been a focus in our Cultural Heritage 

area including innovative Heritage Week 

activities, an expanded Open House 

program and the development of After 

Dark theatrical presentations of characters 

from the Island’s rich history. Our new 

Aboriginal Reconciliation Action Plan has 

been drafted, based on the positive results 

of our first plan. We continue to invest in 

this important area of our cultural heritage 

and engagement with community.

More than $3.4 million was spent on capital 

works which included major upgrades to 

the West End Boardwalk, Geordie Bay Jetty 

and Campground. Included also were a 

$310,000 upgrade of the furniture at the 

Geordie, Longreach and Fay’s Bays units; 

external painting of Bathurst units; new 

blankets, tables and chairs; a $120,000 

upgrade of barbeques in Central and North 

Thomson accommodation and essential 

upgrades to power; and $250,000 on staff 

offices.

We have achieved a clean bill of health from 

the Economic Regulation Authority in regard 

to licence compliances for the year. Major 

items due for upgrade include replacement 

of the waste water treatment plant which is 

nearing the end of its useful life.

There have been two notable departures 

from the Island this year. The first is that of 

Mr Laurie O’Meara, member and Chairman 

of the Authority during the past 12 years. 

Laurie has presided over a period of great 

change in the Island – from the Taskforce 

formed in response to warnings by the 

Auditor-General concerning the Island’s 

future, through to an extensive effort to 

bring the Island’s accommodation and 

infrastructure up to standard by the end of 

this financial year. 

The value of Rottnest 
Island to the economy  
of Western Australia  
has been estimated  
at over $117 million 
annually. 
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The second departure is the retirement 

of the Island’s Catholic parish priest, 

Monsignor Sean O’Shea, after 50 years.

The end result of more than a decade 

of focusing on “doing it once and 

doing it right” has seen a turnaround of 

confidence in the Island from the private 

sector. Investment into the Island by the 

Government ($42 million+) and private 

businesses ($20 million+) has seen a 

complete revamp of the accommodation 

and an upgrade to essential facilities. 

My sincere thanks and those of my 

staff go to Mr Laurie O’Meara for his 

steady guidance, vision, support and 

encouragement, as we have established a 

sound financial foundation, increased our 

visitors’ satisfaction in the Island’s services 

and	facilities	to	an	enviable	97%,	attracted	

quality private investors and achieved the 

highest recognition of our peers in the 

tourism industry as WA’s top major tourism 

destination.

My staff and I welcome the incoming 

Chairman, Mr John Driscoll, and  

Deputy-Chairman, Mr Stephen Lauder,  

as businessmen with media and marketing 

expertise. We will be moving on from the 

sound foundation that has been established 

to develop new experiences and services 

to meet the changing needs of Western 

Australians and other visitors.

Finally,	to	all	who	work	on	the	‘Rock’	and	

off	the	‘Rock’,	thank	you	for	your	continued	

contribution to our high visitor satisfaction.

EILIDH GRAHAM

kEVIN TOOVEY

SALLY RObERTSON

WAYNE ENDERSbEE

JULIA bURNS



12 Rottnest Island Authority

A g E N C Y   O v E R v I E w
Vision
Rottnest Island is a model of ethical 

tourism based on financial, environmental 

and social sustainability.

Objectives:

•	 To	ensure	that	Rottnest	Island	provides	

a wide range of recreational and 

holiday services to Island visitors that 

create a high degree of satisfaction.

•	 To	ensure	that	revenue	is	generated	

from commercial activities to 

financially sustain operating and asset 

replacement costs.

•	 To	conserve	and	enhance	Rottnest	

Island’s natural environment and 

cultural heritage as models of 

sustainability within Australia.

•	 To	manage	financial	and	other	

resources to ensure that Rottnest 

Island becomes financially sustainable.

Operational Structure
The Rottnest Island Authority (the Authority) 

was established under the terms of the 

Rottnest Island Authority Act 1987 (the 

Act) and administers the Rottnest Island 
Regulations 1988. It is responsible to 

the Hon Dr Kim Hames MLA, Minister for 

Tourism, and is governed by Authority 

members appointed by the Governor.

The Chief Executive Officer administers the 

day-to-day operations of Rottnest Island, 

subject to the control of the Authority, and 

is supported by a core permanent staff 

of 110 and temporary staff engaged as 

required to meet seasonal demand.

MINISTER FOR TOURISM
Hon Dr Kim Hames MLA

ROTTNEST ISLAND AUTHORITY
MEMBERS

Laurie O’Meara AM  
(Chairman)

CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

Paolo Amaranti

GENERAL MANAGER 
PROJECT AND 

CONTRACT SERVICES
Andrew Tarpley

GENERAL MANAGER 
GOVERNANCE, 
STRATEGY AND 

SUPPORT
Greg Ellson

GENERAL MANAGER 
SALES, MARKETING 

AND PRODUCT 
DEVELOPMENT

Vacant

MANAGER MARINE  
AND TERRESTRIAL  

RESERVE
Roland Mau

Rottnest Island Authority 
Executive Organisational Structure
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Performance Management 
Framework
The Performance Management Framework 

is structured in accordance with the 

requirements of the Government’s 

Outcome-Based Management Framework 

for public sector agencies.

The Rottnest Island Authority is classified 

as a Public Non-Financial Corporation by 

the Department of Treasury. This implies 

that it is required to be self-funding and 

not rely on State Budget funding for its 

commercial operating expenses. The 

Authority is therefore required to act in a 

commercial manner to fulfil its functions.

Rottnest Island Authority’s 
Outcome-based Management 
Framework

Government Goal: Social and 
Environmental Responsibility

Ensuring that economic activity is 

managed in a socially and environmentally 

responsible manner for the long-term 

benefit of the State.

Shared Responsibilities with Other 
Agencies

The Authority does not share any key 

service-related responsibilities with 

other agencies. However, it does work 

in partnership with other Government 

providers servicing Rottnest Island, 

including the Western Australia Police, 

Department of Health, Department 

of Education and the Department of 

Transport.

The Rottnest Island 
Community

business Community

The Rottnest Island Business Community 

(RIBC) is a collective group representing the 

interests of business operators and other 

organisations that service the Island, and 

includes:

•	 Rottnest	Island	Authority

•	 Rottnest	Express

•	 Rottnest	Bakery	and	Cafe

•	 Hotel	Rottnest

•	 Rottnest	General	and	Geordie	Bay	

Stores; Indianic Boutique

•	 Rottnest	Lodge

•	 Pelagic	Marine	Services	Pty	Ltd

•	 Rottnest	Fast	Ferries

•	 Aristos	Waterfront	Rottnest

•	 Dôme	Rottnest

•	 Just-4-Fun	Aqua	Park

•	 Programmed	Facility	Management

•	 Rotorvation

•	 Wellness	Centre

•	 Subway

The role of the RIBC is to promote the 

Island’s businesses and services, and 

to encourage cooperation among its 

members. The RIBC is managed by an 

elected team of executive managers 

consisting of the Authority’s CEO Mr Paolo 

Amaranti, Mr Ivan Rutherford (Rottnest 

Bakery), Mr Michael Sier (Pelagic Marine), 

Mr Ian Dawson (Rottnest Express),  

Mr Stephen Walsh (Dôme Rottnest),  

Mr Greg Brindle (General and Geordie Bay 

Stores; Indianic Boutique) and Mr Tony 

Dichiera (Hotel Rottnest).

ROTTNEST ISLAND 
AUTHORITY’S DESIRED 

OUTCOME
kEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

SERVICES 
PROVIDED TO 

 THE COMMUNITY 

Rottnest Island visitors enjoy 
recreational and holiday 
experiences in healthy natural 
and cultural environments.

EFFECTIVENESS  
•	Visitor	satisfaction	with	the	Rottnest	 
   Island experience. 
•	Health	of	Rottnest	Island’s	 
   natural environment. 
•	Health	of	Rottnest	Island’s	 
   cultural heritage. 

1. Recreational and  
holiday services.

EFFICIENCY  
•	Average	cost	of	recreational	and	holiday			 
   services provided per visitor. 
•	Average	cost	of	natural	environment	and 
   cultural heritage management per 
   Reserve hectare.

2. Natural 
environment  
and cultural heritage 
management.

Volunteer Groups

Rottnest Island is fortunate to have a 

number of volunteer groups working for 

the benefit of the Island and its visitors. 

These include the Rottnest Voluntary 

Guides Association, Rottnest Foundation, 

Winnit Club, Scouts Australia, Rottnest 

Society, Conservation Volunteers Australia, 

and various school and corporate groups. 

More than 1,500 volunteers are currently 

associated with the Island.

Volunteers participate in projects such as 

seawall painting, fence installation, tree 

planting, weed removal, seed collection, 

rubbish cleanups and general maintenance. 

In addition, the Rottnest Voluntary Guides 

Association conducts guided tours, adding 

to the visitor experience of the Island.

Emergency Services

Emergency preparedness and development 

of response plans for the Island are 

coordinated through the Rottnest Island 

Local Emergency Management Committee, 

which has Specified Public Authority 

Status under Section 35 of the Emergency 
Management Act 2005. The Committee 

includes:

•	 Rottnest	Island	Authority	(Chair)

•	 Western	Australia	Police

•	 Fire	and	Emergency	Services	Authority

•	 Department	for	Child	Protection

•	 Department	of	Heath

•	 Programmed	Facility	Management

Other Community Services

State Government services located on the 

Island include a police station, a nursing 

post and a primary school. Rottnest Island 

has a private volunteer fire and rescue 

brigade. The Water Police, Department 

of Fisheries, Department of Transport 

and Department of Environment and 

Conservation assist with compliance 

activities within the Island’s marine area. 

The Authority provides a postal delivery 

service on the Island, and a private barge 

operator provides freight transport.
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Aboriginal Reconciliation
Under its Reconciliation Action Plan (RAP), 

the Authority is committed to promoting 

awareness, education and action both 

internally (among its staff, contractors, 

volunteers and business partners) and with 

Island visitors to help build relationships, 

develop respect and create opportunities 

for Aboriginal people. The Authority has 

worked effectively and enthusiastically 

throughout 2011-12 in successfully 

delivering or progressing RAP initiatives 

and actions.

For the third year, cross-cultural awareness 

training for Authority staff has been 

conducted and incorporated into the staff 

induction process. As at 30 June 2012, 

91%	of	permanent	staff	have	completed	

the training. The course involves two 

days of intensive and interactive sessions 

covering the culture and history of 

Aboriginal peoples in Australia, as well 

as current issues and challenges. The 

Authority also encourages all Island 

businesses, permanent contractors and 

volunteer groups to attend the sessions. 

This initiative has encouraged greater 

sensitivity to Aboriginal cultural issues 

among staff working on the Island.

Aboriginal trainees and cadets continued 

their placements within the Authority, 

and have either been retained for further 

training opportunities or have moved into 

other employment.

The Authority continues to present 

Aboriginal educational activities through 

the school educational program and also 

through events such as National Heritage 

Week on Rottnest Island. New interpretive 

signage sharing the Island’s rich Aboriginal 

heritage with visitors has been included 

at the West End and around the Island. 

An interactive audio sign providing a 

“Welcome to Country” in Noongar language 

and English has also been installed at the 

main jetty, and a “Welcome to Country” 

acknowledgement included on the ferry.

In November 2011 there were 10 football 

teams from the Clontarf Foundation 

participating in the Wadjemup Cup, an 

annual Aboriginal football event which 

attracts a large spectator group. This 

event continues to grow each year and 

is an important part of the educational 

development program run by the Clontarf 

Foundation.

The Island has hosted the Clontarf 

Foundation’s Professional Development 

weekend for staff and coaches in 2011 

and 2012, and continues to support 

the Foundation by working towards a 

partnership agreement.

Review of the final year of the 2008-11 

RAP has taken place and a revised RAP for  

2012-15 is being compiled with assistance 

from Aboriginal stakeholders, the 

Department of Indigenous Affairs and 

Reconciliation Australia. The Authority is 

also developing stronger working links 

with the South West Aboriginal Land and 

Sea Council for projects on the Island, 

and also for the future development and 

implementation of the RAP.

HELEN SHORTLAND-JONES

bRONWYN PEARSON

PATSY VIZENTS
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A g E N C Y   P E R f O R M A N C E

Financial Summary
Along with several other popular tourism 

destinations within Western Australia, 

Rottnest Island experienced a decline 

in visitation in 2011-12. Ferry visitors 

declined	by	11.2%	compared	to	the	

previous year.

The Authority also experienced a decline 

in its accommodation occupancy rates of 

5.3%	during	2011-12.	However,	during	the	

peak summer period the accommodation 

continued to show full occupancy and in 

excess of 3,350 applications were received 

for the summer ballot.

The Authority’s 2011-12 financial result 

shows an accounting loss of  

$1.1 million. This result reflects the  

impact of adverse economic factors  

on the Authority’s operating revenue,  

which declined by approximately  

$2 million. This was mainly due to a fall 

in accommodation revenue ($0.8 million) 

and admission fees collected from ferry 

passengers ($0.3 million) which related 

primarily to day visitors. Due to prudent 

financial management, the Authority has 

been successful in reducing its operating 

expenditure to compensate this decline.

Consistent with the trends described above, 

net cash flows provided by operating 

activities have remained positive, but have 

decreased from $3.1 million in 2011 to 

$1.7 million in 2012. The main reasons 

for this decrease are stagnant revenue 

streams, increased operating costs and 

additional costs due to unforeseen safety 

and compliance issues, all of which 

remain key challenges in Rottnest Island’s 

economic environment.

These results are summarised in the table 

below:







Rottnest Island met or exceeded the 
expectations of 97% of its visitors

Rottnest Island met or exceeded all environmental 

and visitor satisfaction performance targets

The Rottnest Island Authority’s cash flow remained 
positive in a challenging economic environment

Target 2011-12 Result 2011-12 Results 2010-11

Total cost of services – $35.1 million $35.1 million $32.3 million

Profit/(Loss) – $9,000 ($1.1 million) $2.1 million

Net increase/(decrease)  

in cash held $200,000 
$1.6 million $3.2 million
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Key Performance Indicators Summary
Results of the Authority’s measurable Key Performance Indicator targets were very positive 

during 2011-12. All visitor satisfaction targets were exceeded through the year, with the 

overall	measure	of	visitor	satisfaction	exceeded	by	7%.

Natural environment management performance targets were met or exceeded. The results 

indicate a positive trend towards more effective environmental management on Rottnest 

Island, a significant achievement given the Island’s pronounced environmental pressures.

The Authority also met or exceeded the majority of cultural heritage performance targets, 

which relate to the protection and conservation of the Island’s rich cultural heritage assets.

The key results are summarised in the table below. Further details can be found in the 

Disclosures and Legal Compliance section of this report.

The following table of financial ratios highlight a variety of areas of the Authority’s financial 

performance.

Financial Ratio 2012 2011 2010

Operating revenue per visitor (by ferry) $98.72 $93.40 $94.14

Profit margin percentage  

(Profit before depreciation and extraordinary 

items	as	a	%	of	revenue)

10.8% 15.8% 12%

Cash ratio 

(Coverage of current liabilities with cash)
1.35 1.35 1.03

All visitor satisfaction  
targets were exceeded  
throughout the year.
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Summary of key Performance Indicator Results 2011-12

Performance Indicator and Measures Target Result

Visitor Satisfaction

Rottnest Island experience met or  

exceeded expectations
90% 97%

Health of the natural environment 

Terrestrial Habitat C C

Inland Waters B A

Marine Habitat B A

Wildlife Management C B

Health of the cultural environment 

The proportion of heritage listed places  

with	‘statements	of	significance’
70-89% 75%

The proportion of collection heritage items 

recorded on database compared to currently 

known number of items

70-89% 99%

The proportion of developments that  

follow heritage legal requirements and 

conservation policies

90-100% 83%

The proportion of State registered places 

meeting condition targets
70-89% 73%

The proportion of State registered places  

with conservation plans less than  

10 years old

<29% 13%

Efficiency

Average cost of recreational and holiday 

services provided per visitor
$89 $104

Average cost of natural environment  

and cultural heritage management per  

reserve hectare

$723 $790

JULIA bURNS

JACqUI MCGHIE

REbECCA CHAFFER
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The Rottnest Island Management Plan 
2009-14 (RIMP) was developed with input 

from the community, stakeholders and 

staff, and with a theme of environmental, 

social and financial sustainability. The RIMP 

seeks to maintain the balance between 

the functions set out in the Rottnest Island 

Authority Act 1987 – providing holiday and 

recreation facilities for visitors – while also 

protecting and maintaining the natural and 

built environment of the A-Class Reserve.

The RIMP commenced operation in July 

2009 with an allocated budget of $14.5 

million for the five-year period. The 

Authority spent $3.3 million this year on 

RIMP initiatives.

A summary of the progress made in 

relation to each initiative that commenced 

in 2011-12 is provided below.

 Rottnest Island Management Plan 2009-14 progressed with 

$3.3 million expended on planned 
initiatives

Rottnest Island Management Plan 2009 -14

Initiative Status 
RIMP budget 

$

Expenditure 

$

1 Review the Rottnest Island 
Authority Act 1987

This initiative is pending the 20-year Vision being developed 
(see Initiative 3 below).

0 N/A

2 Tourism and recreation strategy Various actions and achievements through the year including: 
•		Preparation	of	Rottnest	Island	Tourism	and	Recreation 
   Strategy Issues Paper which will incorporate recent 
   market research findings. 
•		An	external	market	survey	group	is	currently	conducting 
   visitor research on perceptions of Rottnest Island to 
   underpin this strategy. 

20,000 110,000

3 The twenty-year vision for 
Rottnest Island

Various research has been conducted including Island 
values, sustainability, climate change and economic 
modelling, and ongoing visitor satisfaction. Major market 
research is currently being conducted. A planning workshop 
was undertaken on 19 April 2012 with further workshops 
scheduled for 2012.

0 40,000

4 Sustainability accreditation Rottnest Island has received Bronze Level accreditation and 
has appropriate policies, resources and resource usage 
measures in place. Progressing towards Silver Certification 
which requires an Environmental Management System  
and material improvements achieved in resource usage 
rates. An Environmental Risk Assessment Guide and 
Environmental Policy were developed during the year which 
are key to setting the direction and framework for achieving 
Silver status.

35,000 28,460

5 Sustainable visitor research Completed 2010-11. 0 N/A

6 Development planning controls Completed 2010-11. 0 N/A

7 Address external environmental 
and economic threats 

A detailed report on various relevant trends (eg tourism 
visitation, climate change and climate change research) was 
completed in 2011. Emerging issues were identified which 
need to be proactively managed. A Resource Atlas based 
on a Coastal Compartmentalisation framework using GIS 
mapping has been developed to support decision making.

35,000 23,000
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Initiative Status 
RIMP budget 

$

Expenditure 

$

8 Aboriginal reconciliation The Authority’s Aboriginal Reconciliation Action Plan is being 
implemented as detailed. It will be revised during 2012 
(required every three years). Numerous interpretation products 
have been developed including Wadjemup Key Messages 
brochure and “Welcome to Country” audio signage. 
Three Cross-Cultural Awareness Programs were conducted 
during	the	year	with	91%	of	all	permanent	employees	having	
completed the course by 30 June 2012.

100,000 100,000

9 Maintain quality of Authority 
accommodation

Minor maintenance on accommodation is being performed 
during winter 2012 and subsequent low seasons over 
the next 5 years. Expenditure includes $1.5 million 
‘banked’	at	the	beginning	of	the	financial	year	for	ongoing	
refurbishments.

2,000,000 1,500,000

10 Provide a range of visitor 
accommodation

The tender process for development of Longreach Bay 
was completed. The preferred tenderer withdrew from the 
process. There were costs associated with tendering and 
development process for this development. 

0 134,000

11 Upgrade Kingstown Some minor improvements to Kingstown were implemented, 
eg painting, and improved recreation and security facilities. 

0 21,700

12 Review visitor accommodation 
management options

Being considered in conjunction with Initiative 3 – development 
of the 20-year Vision. Various studies have been conducted 
through the year which will inform this initiative. 

0 N/A

13 Expand recreational activities Some	new	activities	such	as	a	fully	escorted	‘grand	Island	
tour’ and fitness classes have been introduced to the 
Island for the summer season. Rottnest After Dark roving 
performances debuted through the winter months.

0 N/A

14 Improve visitor facilities A variety of improvements were implemented: 
•		Replacement	of	West	End	Boardwalk. 
•		New	playground	equipment	installed	at	Heritage	Common 
   and South Thomson. 
•		Upgrade	to	Geordie	Bay	Jetty	to	allow	better	boat	access 
   to onshore facilities. 
•		Improvements	to	the	campground. 
•		Upgrade	of	Island	directional	signage	and	visitor	information.

230,000 800,000

15 Marine facilities Boating 
Management Strategy (BMS)

Various actions implemented: 
•		A	Boating	Management	Strategy	has	been	drafted	and	will 
   be finalised when the results of a boating survey 
   have been considered. It is expected that stakeholder 
   engagement and public comment processes will occur 
   prior to the end of 2012. 
•		Economic	viability	marina	research	has	commenced. 
•		The	Government	has	allocated	$600,000	in	2012-13 
   to assist with marina feasibility, concept design and 
   environmental study of a development. 

40,000 40,000

16 Review responsibility for utilities, 

major infrastructure and  

non-commercial services

Review of legal and commercial arrangements for outsourcing 

the delivery of utility services on the Island. The Authority will 

continue to review options for the provision of the Island’s 

utility services, including the engagement of an external 

provider to manage the provision of utility services on Rottnest 

Island. The provision of utility services requires significant 

capital investment, incurs high operating costs and requires 

expertise to meet demanding regulatory requirements. 

0 42,000



22 Rottnest Island Authority

Initiative Status 
RIMP budget 

$

Expenditure 

$

17 Terrestrial Management Strategy Various actions implemented during 2011-12: 

•		Project	Team	and	External	Reference	Group	established. 

•		Workshops	were	held	with	external	and	internal	stakeholders. 

•		Conservation	Action	Planning	methodology	adopted 

   and significantly progressed.

40,000 40,000

18 Implement the Marine 

Management Strategy (MMS)

Various actions successfully implemented during the year: 

•		Servicing	of	Marine	Sanctuary	Zone	floats. 

•		Three	successful	prosecutions	related	to	fishing	offences. 

•		Marine-themed	interpretation	built	into	the	West	End 

   Boardwalk. 

•		Provision	of	new	snorkelling	activities	for	school	groups 

			and	the	inclusion	of	a	new	diver	category	(‘E’	diver)	under 

   the Authority dive code. 

•		Collaboration	with	Earthwatch,	marine	scientists	from 

   CSIRO and universities to establish community 

   engagement and research programs on Rottnest.

40,000 40,000

19 Education and interpretation for 

environmental management

Various education programs developed and implemented for 

school and youth groups. Interpretive signage for Coastal 

Walk Trail – West End, Heritage Street signs implemented. 

Fisheries information stand in stock for visitors (MMS); suite 

of activities for corporate groups developed. 

40,000 19,200

20 Rottnest Island Research 

Strategy

Funding is allocated each year for external parties to 

conduct relevant research on Rottnest Island. There were 23 

general research permits awarded during this financial year. 

There are 31 active research projects and 36 completed 

projects since 2009. 

50,000 41,837

21 Cultural heritage conservation Repairs and maintenance as identified in the annual 

assessment of heritage assets were implemented. 

Conservation works included repairs of the historic wall around 

Hotel Rottnest, repair and stabilisation of WWII structures for 

public access, window repair, structural works and painting at 

Kingstown Barracks and heritage accommodation.

235,000 270,000

22 Education and interpretation 

products

On hold pending market research results.
85,000 NIL

23 Improve customer service All front line staff trained in customer service including staff 

from the Visitor Centre, Bike Hire and Tours and Transport. 
0 4,500

24 Focus on safety and security A new hi-definition CCTV system was installed on the Island 

and is now operational. Secondment of FESA fire officer 

to update and improve the Island’s preparedness for 

emergency situations.

30,000 100,000

25 Support volunteers The following activities and developments occurred during 

2011-12: 

•		Development	of	compliance	documentation	for	volunteers. 

•		Hosted	Volunteer	Breakfast. 

•		Development	of	annual	Volunteer	Project	Calendar. 

•		Update	of	the	Rottnest	Island	website	with	volunteer 

   information.

30,000 30,000

TOTALS 3,010,000 3,384,697
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The products and activities provided by 

Recreational and Holiday Services address 

the following corporate objectives:

•	 That	Rottnest	Island	provides	a	wide	

range of recreational and holiday 

services to Island visitors to create a 

high degree of satisfaction; and that

•	 The	Authority	generates	revenue	from	

commercial activities to financially 

sustain its operating and asset 

replacement costs.

During the year more than 530,000 

visits were made to Rottnest Island. This 

comprised 293,844 visitors by ferry, 

48,427 trips by staff and volunteers, an 

estimated 185,000 visitors by private boat 

and more than 4000 visitors by aircraft. 

All these visitor types contribute to the 

economy of the Island.

Based on sample surveys of visitors by 

ferry,	61%	are	from	Western	Australia,	

21%	are	from	interstate	and	a	growing	

international	visitation	peaked	at	18%	

during the year. Of those visitors who come 

by	ferry,	most	(65%)	come	to	experience	

Rottnest	for	the	day,	but	many	(35%)	stay	

in overnight accommodation on the Island.

Yield per visitor to the Island has increased 

during the past year. This can be attributed 

to better information being available to 

Island visitors via the 30-minute infomercial 

now shown on the ferry services and the 

consolidation of activities and maps now 

available in the Rottnest Essentials Guide, 

introduced during the year.

The ‘Love my Rotto’ campaign culminated 

with a live outside broadcast of Perth’s 

highest rating commercial breakfast radio 

show from the Island with an estimated 

audience of 258,000 people, the highest 

market share in Perth.

Marketing

Like similar Western Australian destinations 

Rottnest Island faced a challenging 

year attributed in part to the continuing 

high value of the Australian dollar and 

aggressive overseas competition. After 

experiencing strong growth in 2010-11  

of	9%,	visitor	numbers	to	the	Island	during	

2011-12 returned to the previous level  

of 2009-10.

The Authority attempted to mitigate the 

decline in visitation during the year by 

implementing the highly visible Love My 
Rotto marketing campaign, which was 

developed in partnership with the Rottnest 

Island Business Community. Aimed at 

positioning Rottnest Island as a ’family 

friendly, value for money’ destination, 

this large scale campaign, with a total 

expenditure of $480,000, included 

extensive television commercials, billboards 

and radio and print advertising.

One of the key initiatives was the 

introduction of the ‘Rotto Savings Passport’ 
designed to showcase to consumers the 

variety of activities, attractions and venues 

on the Island, while offering attractive 

deals and discounts intended to encourage 

repeat visitation.

Recreational and Holiday Services







Rottnest Bike and Hire increased sales by 7.6%  

on the previous year

The total yield per visitor to the Island increased 
by 9.5% in 2011-12

The Authority’s Conference Centre contributed an 

estimated  $400,000 to the Island’s economy



24 Rottnest Island Authority

To identify and develop strategies which 

sustain and stimulate ongoing visitation 

growth, the Authority commissioned 

independent market research with 

TNS Social Research. Quantitative and 

qualitative research has been conducted 

with a focus on achieving specific business 

objectives including ongoing financial 

sustainability of the Authority and its 

activities, increased economic activity on 

the Island, and meeting or exceeding visitor 

expectations. The expected outcomes 

from the full report, due to be completed 

in 2012-13, range from attaining a 

detailed understanding of the needs of 

Island visitors both current and potential, 

identifying options for developing products 

and experiences to suit those needs, to 

identifying strategies that will stimulate 

visitation growth.

To address the ongoing challenge of 

promoting Rottnest Island during the winter 

months and to combat the perception 

that the Island is a summer-only holiday 

destination, the Authority developed the 

‘More	Rottnest’	winter	campaign.	Its	launch	

in May 2012 included billboards, web, bus 

and print advertising.

Digital advertising has proven an 

increasingly successful sales and marketing 

tool, with multiple new low-cost initiatives 

including search marketing, search engine 

optimisation, digital distribution with external 

providers, direct business-to-customer 

e-newsletter, special offers and social 

media. Utilising these low-cost digital 

distribution channels prior to the launch of 

the	‘More	Rottnest’	campaign,	300	Winter	

Packages were sold (February – May 2012), 

in contrast to total winter package sales of 

290 for the whole of 2011.

Rottnest Island’s Facebook page now 

has	more	than	50,000	‘likes’.	This	

follows hot on the heels of Tourism WA’s 

westernaustralia.com Facebook page and, 

by comparison, well exceeds other iconic 

Perth attractions.

The Authority again conducted industry 

and media familiarisations to the Island to 

generate increased awareness about and 

exposure of Rottnest Island to national 

and international tourism markets, 

in partnership with Tourism WA and 

Experience Perth. The Authority’s financial 

contribution in the form of admission 

fees waived or reduced in support of this 

program was $155,309 for the year.

Accommodation

With approximately 22,000 reservations and 

check-ins during the year, Accommodation 

Services provided an efficient and friendly 

welcome to more than 100,000 overnight 

visitors to Rottnest Island. Accommodation 

is the Authority’s most profitable business 

and comprises 291 self contained units, 

a 164 bed dormitory style facility at 

Kingstown, 50-bed hostel and a camping 

ground offering 23 sites.

Prices vary to reflect the different levels 

of comfort and location, with bungalows 

and cabins offering good value all year 

round. The Authority offers special prices 

and packages during the quieter shoulder 

and off-peak months when Rottnest Island 

is often at its best and well worth a visit 

or stay. For example, winter packages 

in 2012 offer a 6-bed unit from $24 per 

person per night for a minimum five-night 

stay, including ferry tickets.

During winter 2012, the Authority is trialling 

a new “extended stay” option allowing 

guests to book Bathurst accommodation 

for periods of between 8 and 16 weeks. 

Rates for a 4-bed unit start at $480 

per week and it is anticipated that the 

opportunity for long-stay guests to discover 

the delights of Rottnest out of season will 

gain further momentum in 2013.

The Authority has also provided an option 

for guests to upgrade to more comfortably 

equipped accommodation during the winter 

period. Twenty villas have been made 

available with more comfortable bedding, 

rugs, additional heating and special 

touches to address customer requests for 

greater choice and comfort.

The painting of the exteriors of the Bathurst 

and Fays Bay accommodation, a project 

which commenced during winter 2011, has 

been completed. Over the same period, a 

complete refurbishment took place of the 

superbly situated Commanders Cottages 

at Kingstown. These houses offer premium 

comfort within a heritage context and have 

great appeal to Island visitors.

Use of the Rottnest Island online booking 

portal has increased during the year, with 

40%	of	visitors	using	this	service.	Guests	

wanting a more personalised service may 

call the Authority’s reservation centre, or 

attend in person at either the Visitor Centre 

at B Shed Victoria Quay Fremantle, or at 

the Visitor Centre on Rottnest Island.

Increases in accommodation rates for 

2012-13 have been limited to the official 

Consumer Price Index rate and the 

increasing popularity of attractively priced 

packages has enabled many people to stay 

on Rottnest Island for a lower rate than in 

the past.

Recreation Services

The Authority’s recreational operations 

comprise several commercial concerns 

which generate profit and contribute to 

the Island’s economy. In 2011-12 Rottnest 

Island Bike and Hire increased the range of 

activities available with the introduction of 

new products. During the last quarter of the 

financial year, the management of the hire 

and transport businesses amalgamated 

to align product delivery and capitalise on 

growth opportunities for both businesses. 

The Authority is planning to introduce new 

tour products in 2012-13.

Tours and Transport

A complimentary shuttle bus that accesses 

the various accommodation areas around 

the Island is just one of the many services 

provided by the Authority. Other services 

include the ’hop on, hop off’ Bayseeker 

bus, the Island Discovery Tour, Oliver Hill 

Train Tour, WWII Artillery Installation Guns 

and Tunnels Tour, and the Wadjemup 

Lighthouse Tour.
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Our new Bike and Bus service, and 

mask and snorkel sets, which are now 

available for Bayseeker passengers from 

the Main Bus Stop ticket booth, are the 

forerunners of many products that will 

make recreational activities and services 

far more accessible to our visitors.

The merging of the management of Bike 

and Hire with Tours and Transport has 

enabled the development of a range of 

new initiatives to be released for the 2012 

peak season, together with a review of all 

services currently undertaken.

During 2011-12, there were 82,000 

passengers who utilised Tours and 

Transport services, which was down 

around	15%	on	last	year’s	numbers	due	to	

the decline in visitor numbers.

2011-12 2010-11

Island Discovery 

Tour
15,000 18,000

Bayseeker 53,000 61,000

Oliver Hill Train  9,000 13,000

Lighthouse  5,000 5,000

Total 82,000 97,000

bike and Other Hire Services

In 2011-12 Rottnest Island Bike and Hire 

transacted 68,000 bicycle hires, 7,350 

mask and snorkel hires, and 700 hires 

for surfboards, paddleboards, wetsuits, 

vuboards and other recreational items. 

Sales	increased	by	7.6%	compared	to	the	

previous year.

Introduction of new products included 

the Bike and Bus service (ride til you are 

tired then leave your bike at a numbered 

bus stop and jump on the Bayseeker 

bus to return to the Settlement) and a 

new Afternoon Only bike hire rate, which 

contributed an additional 6,570 hires.

The Rottnest Family Fun Park also 

managed by Bike and Hire continues to 

attract families for traditional holiday 

activities.

Corporate Meetings and 
Conferences

The Rottnest Island Country Club and 

Conference Centre continue to provide 

excellent amenities to local, national 

and international corporate clients. The 

centre has achieved 65 days of functions 

and conferencing, and client satisfaction 

continues to be high with many repeat 

bookings.

This year has seen a more cohesive 

approach to building market share, with 

the Authority working with other Island 

businesses in several joint initiatives 

to promote the Island as a corporate 

destination. This culminated in a Rottnest 

Island stand at the recent Perth Event 

Show, jointly manned by the Authority, 

Rottnest Lodge, Oceanic Cruises, Hotel 

Rottnest and Rottnest Express, from which 

90 leads were generated and shared 

as well as a whole-of-Island industry 

familiarisation planned for June. The trade 

show has been highly successful in building 

profile and raising awareness of the 

amenities that Rottnest offers corporate 

clients.

The Authority’s Conference Centre 

contributes significantly to the Island’s 

overall economy, generating an estimated 

$400,000 of gross income across both 

Authority and private business.

Events

Always a popular venue for events, 

Rottnest Island has expanded its calendar 

to include new annual events as well as 

improving on the delivery and participation 

of existing events.

The 100 Years of Tourism event program 

concluded with a fun-filled family day in 

December 2011, with stilt walkers, a 

mechanical petting zoo and many more 

activities free to Island visitors.

DANIEL WOODALL

MARk JONES

SALLY SNEDDON

VIC SINGLETON

SALLY RObERTSON
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The Authority is now an official sponsor 

of the Rottnest Channel Swim and the 

event continues to maintain its place as 

Western Australia’s premier event. Always at 

participant capacity of 2,300 swimmers, this 

year Rottnest Express broke previous records 

moving in excess of 5,000 visitors off the 

Island following the event. It is estimated 

that the Channel Swim attracted more than 

20,000 spectators, including those guests 

already accommodated on the Island.

Now firmly established on the Rottnest 

Island calendar, the Rottnest Foundation-

coordinated Festival of Sail saw 63 yachts 

sail to the Island on Saturday 28 April 

2012. One of the richest yacht racing 

events on the Western Australian calendar, 

the two-day event is also unique in that 

competitors sail to another destination, in 

this case Rottnest Island. Visitors to the 

Island were treated to a spectacle of colour 

as	the	‘Round	the	Island’	competitors	

could be seen from several vantage points 

around the Island.

More streamlined Rottofest accommodation 

packages and improved programming saw 

an	increase	of	162%	in	weekend	passes	

and	a	massive	326%	increase	in	day	

passes in what has become a fixture on the 

Perth comedy scene calendar.

Playgroup WA members also visited the 

Island for the Playgroup WA Wadjemup Play 

Day. Delivered in partnership with other 

peak bodies such as Museum WA and 

Scitech, and supported by Nature Play WA, 

this event attracted 200 participants, most 

of whom were toddlers under five years old 

and included five indigenous playgroups on 

their first visit to the Island.

The year’s calendar comprised 23 public 

events, summarised below, which attracted 

more than 23,000 additional visitors to the 

Island.

Events

Rottnest Classic Golf Tournament Leavers

The Rottnest Cup and Ledger Trophy Lighthouse to Leighton

Rottofest Rottnest Swim Thru

Basin Rescue 100 years of Tourism-Rottnest Family Day

Brooks Marathon Ocean Paddling Race

Wadjemup Cup Rottnest Channel Swim

West End Boardwalk Opening Chairman’s Cup Golf Tournament

UWCT World Cycling Time Trial Playgroup WA Wadjemup Play Day

92.9 Rottnest Broadcast Quokka Classic Rotary Charity Ride

ANZAC	Day Surfing WA

Festival of Sail Rottnest Golf Club Season Close

RAC Members Weekend Chairman’s Cup Golf Tournament

Rottofest 
accommodation 
packages and improved 
programming saw an 
increase of 162% in 
weekend passes and a 
massive 326% increase 
in day passes.
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Rottnest’s marine and terrestrial reserve 

comprises 1,859 hectares of land and 

3,800 hectares of surrounding waters. 

The Authority manages biodiversity 

conservation, research and monitoring 

programs, environmental protection and 

ecological restoration including coastal 

dune management. Other responsibilities 

include water quality, tree maintenance, 

landscaping and woodland restoration, pest 

management, and the provision of boating 

opportunities and facilities.

The Island’s A-Class Reserve boasts:

•	 254	bird	species

•	 19	reptile	species	including	the	

threatened Rottnest Island Bobtail and 

Dugite

•	 64	hectares	of	threatened	Rottnest	

Pine and tea tree community

•	 9	species	of	seagrass

•	 25	species	of	tropical	corals	and	one	

of the world’s southernmost coral 

communities

•	 135	tropical	fish	species

•	 225	temperate	fish	species

•	 Northernmost	colony	of	New	Zealand	

Fur Seals

•	 3	registered	geoheritage	sites	of	State	

significance

•	 6	geoheritage	sites	of	international	

significance

Sustainability

The Authority has a commitment to 

achieving financial, environmental and 

social sustainability. It has now established 

a strong foundation for sustainability with 

the development of relevant sustainability 

policies, procedures and strategies.

The Authority subscribed to the EarthCheck 

Sustainability Accreditation Scheme in 

2010 and since then has progressively 

implemented strategies to achieve program 

objectives.	The	Authority	achieved	‘Bronze	

Certification’ in 2011 and as a result was 

benchmarked by EarthCheck against 

best practice standards and other similar 

organisations who also subscribe to the 

EarthCheck Sustainability Accreditation 

Scheme.

Results	showed	that	53%	of	indicators	

were	at	or	above	best	practice,	29%	of	

indicators were at or above benchmark 

and	18%	of	indicators	were	below	

benchmark. Key areas for improvement 

across the agency include improving the 

sourcing of paper products and reduction 

of paper consumption, reducing potable 

water consumption, and increasing waste 

recycling and reuse.

The Authority worked towards achieving 

the second stage of the EarthCheck 

accreditation	‘Silver	Status’	by	commencing	

development of an Environmental 

Management System. This includes 

the development of the Rottnest Island 

Environmental Policy, Environmental Risk 

Assessment Guide and an assessment of 

the environmental risks associated with the 

Island’s operations, services, products and 

activities.

A Sustainable Villa trial was undertaken 

to ascertain the Authority’s opportunities 

for achieving sustainability objectives with 

regards to accommodation efficiency 

performance. The Authority retro-fitted 

Villa 205 in South Thomson with various 

eco-efficiency appliances and features 

and measured its performance against 

the standard Villa 208 which had not been 

improved. Efficiency measures introduced 

included the installation of an instantaneous 

gas hot water system, smaller gas heater 

unit and low flow shower and tap fittings, 

among other measures.

Results showed that the sustainability villa, 

when compared to the control villa, had 

lower gas and electricity consumption with 

gas having more potential for savings. 

Cost benefit analysis showed that the 

installation of alternative hot water units 

such as instantaneous gas systems would 

result in significant improvements both 

from operating cost and greenhouse gas 

emission perspectives.

Natural Environment









All natural environment management performance targets met 
or exceeded

Significant sustainability projects completed

Revegetated 1.49 ha of coastal dune with 10,000 plants

A total of 3.76 ha of woodland was revegetated with 6,500 plants
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The Authority upgraded the Rottnest Island 

landfill facility to improve the Island waste 

management practices. The objective of 

the project was to decommission the old 

facility, reduce environmental risks, create 

operational efficiencies and increase 

recycling opportunities for occupational 

health and safety purposes and for 

statutory compliance. Project outcomes 

included:

•	 Construction	of	a	new	garbage	truck	

wash-down facility;

•	 Decommissioning	of	old	wash-down	

facility, including the removal of 

contaminated soil;

•	 Recycling	240	cubic	metres	of	scrap	

metal;

•	 300	cubic	metres	of	mulch	were	

created from stocked green waste then 

subsequently used in the settlement 

area;

•	 Removal	of	120	cubic	metres	of	

general waste from the Island;

•	 Development	of	a	transfer	station	

where waste can be sorted for 

recycling and or reuse;

•	 Development	of	a	capping	plan	for	

old waste cells, including a plan to 

revegetate the old landfill cells; and

•	 Development	and	implementation	of	a	

storm water management plan.

The next phase will involve improved site 

design and implementation of plans for its 

use as a waste transfer station.

Terrestrial Conservation

During 2011-12, the Authority significantly 

progressed the development of a 

Conservation Action Plan under RIMP 

Initiative 17 “Terrestrial Management 

Strategy.” The Conservation Action Plan 

process provides a comprehensive 

methodology for biodiversity conservation 

management that will establish biodiversity 

health indicators for the Authority’s 

Environmental Management System and 

annual performance reporting framework.

The project team, with assistance from 

various external advisors and stakeholders, 

identified conservation targets and their 

threats, developed indicators to assess 

their viability and devised various strategies 

and measures to ensure the long-term 

sustainability of the Island’s terrestrial 

environmental values.

In addition, the Authority continued to 

manage the land area of the Reserve by:

•	 Revegetating	a	total	of	1.49	ha	of	

coastal dune with a total of 10,153 

plants (including 0.74 ha of infill  

re-planting);

•	 Planting	6437	trees	–	in	total	3.76	ha	

of woodland was revegetated (with  

1.9 ha of this involving infill re-planting);

•	 Completing	direct	seeding	trials	at	

Parker Point dune blow-out;

•	 Undertaking	seed	collection,	seed	

treatment and plant propagation with 

help of volunteers; and

•	 Continuing	bushbird,	shorebird	and	

migratory bird surveys.

Marine Conservation

The Authority continued to implement its 

Marine Management Strategy to manage 

the sensitive marine area around the Island. 

Key achievements from the Strategy for 

2011-12 include:

•	 Continuation	of	the	Reef	Life	Survey	–	 

a community-based volunteer program;

•	 Development	of	snorkelling	activities	

for implementation during the school 

holidays and continuing the provision of 

education programs to the public such 

as Junior Ranger, Fishing Clinics, Touch 

Pool and Your Island to Care For;

•	 Pilot	Marine	Debris	project	conducted	

with Earthwatch volunteers and 

Southern Cross University;

•	 Maintenance	of	all	marine-based	

Sanctuary	Zone	markers;

•	 Ranger	engagement	with	other	

operational staff to establish reporting 

protocols for inappropriate activity;

•	 Successful	implementation	of	the	New	

Zealand	Fur	Seal	monitoring	program	

with volunteers during summer;

•	 Completion	of	upgrades	to	Geordie	

Bay jetty and Thomson Bay jetty;

•	 Assess	the	recovery	of	seagrass	

meadows from impacts of moorings 

systems between 2000 and 2011;

•	 Three	successful	prosecutions	for	

out-of-season take of abalone and rock 

lobster pots placed in sanctuary zones 

achieved through collaboration with the 

Department of Fisheries; and

•	 Final	round	of	sampling	completed	for	

the Reef Fish Baseline Survey.

A study was undertaken within Parker Point 

to ascertain the severity and source of 

nutrient input into the marine eco-system. 

The study highlighted that the most 

probable cause of nutrient influx was from 

the groundwater. The old Parker Point toilet 

was demolished in 2011 and replaced with 

a new toilet facility which will not discharge 

waste into the ground. It is therefore 

expected that this nutrient influx will cease 

and as a result, the presence and density 

of nuisance algae such as Lyngbya should 

decrease over time.

A community monitoring program was 

established to observe behaviour of 

New	Zealand	Fur	Seals	in	response	to	

interactions with visitors and tourism 

operators at Cathedral Rocks. This project 

provided an opportunity to raise awareness 

of the Department of Environment and 

Conservation’s recommended code of 

conduct on how to interact with pinnipeds 

in the wild. Observing human to seal 

interactions provides information on ways 

to minimise risks to humans and reduce 

disturbance to the fur seal colony. Between 

December 2011 and April 2012, there 

were 77 sample events conducted with 30 

hours of community monitoring.

In partnership with leading researchers 

from the University of Western Australia, 

the Authority completed the third and 

final year of a benchmark reef fish survey 

program to enable the assessment and 

detection of changes within reef fish 

assemblages, with the aim of assessing 

the performance of the Rottnest Island 

Sanctuary	Zones	over	time.
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Preliminary results indicated that some 

targeted fish species are responding to 

protection within the sanctuary zones 

but these patterns were not deemed 

significant. When data from all sanctuary 

zones were pooled there was a consistent 

trend of greater than legal size Breaksea 

cod and Western Fox fish inside the 

sanctuary zones.

Research Program

Under Initiative 20 of the RIMP, the 

Authority is committed to allocating 

financial support under the Rottnest 

Island Research Funding Program to pre-

determined research questions as set by 

the Authority; and, to external research 

projects that have a direct management 

application pertinent to current issues on 

the Island. The following grants totalling 

$38,500 were provided to conduct 

research on Rottnest Island. Research 

grants are awarded through a competitive 

assessment process.

•	 Department	of	Environment	and	

Conservation and University of 

Western Australia to conduct a Quokka 

Demographics and Genetics Survey 

($16,500);

•	 Encycle	Consultants	to	conduct	a	

Waste Management Review ($11,000); 

and

•	 Murdoch	University	to	conduct	a	

Quokka Health Survey ($11,000).

The Authority also provides in-kind 

support to research projects that assist 

in the management of the Island’s 

environment.  The following projects were 

actively sought by the Authority and include 

the provision of in-kind support.

•	 Investigation	into	the	value	of	habitat	

restoration for woodland birds 

on Rottnest Island (Edith Cowan 

University); and

•	 Characterisation	of	freshwater	seeps	

and quality for the survival of fauna at 

Rottnest Island (Curtin University).

In addition to the abovementioned grants, 

29 research permits were granted for a 

range of projects including:

•	 Bird	banding;

•	 Investigation	of	Coral	Disease	at	

Rottnest Island;

•	 Quantifying	the	ecosystem	function	in	

Marine Protected Areas: grazing by 

herbivorous fish species on temperate 

Australian rocky reefs;

•	 The	development	of	a	geological	

interpretation strategy for Rottnest 

Island; and

•	 South-West	Australian	Marine	

Ecosystem Survey.

The Authority has now signed research 

agreements with the following 

organisations:

•	 University	of	Western	Australia	–	 

Reef Life Survey and Quokka Baseline 

Survey;

•	 Birds	Australia	–	Bushbird,	Shorebird	

and Migratory Bird Surveys;

•	 Department	of	Environment	and	

Conservation – Quokka Baseline 

Survey; and

•	 EarthWatch	–	Marine	Debris	Survey.

Marine Facilities

The Authority’s marine facilities continued 

to meet the access needs of visitors 

arriving by private boat to the Island. 

Approximately 185,000 people access 

the Island annually by private boat, 

representing more than one third of all 

visitors. This market segment provides 

valuable economic activity on the Island.

The following key outcomes were achieved 

in 2011-12:

•	 New	quarterly	e-publication	“Rotto	

Marine News” to keep marine users up 

to date with latest developments and 

events;

•	 Upgrade	of	Geordie	Bay	jetty	

($220,000 total project cost) with 

new lower landing funded through 

Department of Transport grant 

($50,000);

•	 Upgrade	of	the	20-year-old	beach	

anchoring pens in North Thomson Bay; 

and

•	 Provide	Fremantle	Sea	Rescue	Group	

with a mooring for their forward 

command vessel “Midstream”.

HELEN PRIESTLEY

ANN JONES
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kATHLEEN kAkOSCHkE
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Initiative 15 of the RIMP identified the need 

for a Boating Management Strategy. The 

boating strategy is currently being drafted 

and will include planning to accommodate 

increased demand for moorings and 

marine facilities while protecting the marine 

environment, visitor safety and amenity. 

As part of this strategy, the Authority will 

also investigate the feasibility of a marina 

development through a public/private 

partnership.

Park Services

The Authority continued to adopt a more 

educational approach to obtaining visitor 

compliance with its regulations during the 

year, resulting in fewer infringements being 

issued. The Rangers are now focusing their 

efforts	on	‘park	management’,	rather	than	

enforcement activities. The following table 

highlights the success of this approach 

over recent years.

2011 2010 2009

Infringements 

notices issued
28 43 478

Caution notices 

issued
149 683 1837

Total notices 

issued
177 726 2315

In addition, various visitor services and 

safety projects were completed during the 

year including:

•	 Geordie	Bay	erosion	control	measures	

around the barbeque shelter;

•	 Mabel	Cove	coastal	risk	signage	

replacement and track realignment;

•	 Little	Parakeet	Bay	fencing	

replacement and access stairs 

upgrade;

•	 Ranger	response	to	44	incidents	

including medical assistance, vessel 

groundings and a shark attack;

•	 West	End	Boardwalk	upgrade	

completed ($290,000 total project 

cost) with new interpretation and 

viewing platform – decking made from 

Australian post-consumer recycled 

plastic with $200,000 funding support 

from the Rottnest Foundation;

•	 Upgrade	of	Little	Parakeet	Bay	beach	

access ($192,000 total project cost) 

and coastal rehabilitation delivered 

through volunteers’ efforts with funding 

support from a $30,000 grant from 

the Department of Environment and 

Conservation to the Rottnest Foundation;

•	 Design	of	new	beach	access	stairs	

and dune rehabilitation at Henrietta 

Rocks ($295,000 total project cost) 

with funding support from a Coastwest 

grant ($141,000) and construction 

support from the Winnit Club volunteer 

group – due for completion before 

November 2012;

•	 Review	of	the	Coastal	Walk	Trail	project	

proposal and further development of 

the signage plan and possible site 

developments for external funding 

opportunities;

•	 Cathedral	Rock	NZ	Fur	Seal	viewing	

platform project received a $15,000 

Lotterywest grant for site planning by 

the Rottnest Foundation;

•	 Rangers	attended	various	sporting,	

charity and organised events or 

festivals during 2011-12 including 

the Festival of Sail, Rottnest Channel 

Swim, Rottofest, school leavers 

activities and Anzac Day ceremonies;

•	 Development	of	fire	trail	names	

and GIS mapping grid system for 

emergency management across the 

Island;

•	 Dune	stabilisation	and	erosion	

monitoring in South Thomson Bay; and

•	 Construction	of	strategic	fire	access	

points and five fire trails across the 

Island.

The Rottnest Island campground was 

relocated in 2007 because it was found 

to be close to an Aboriginal burial ground. 

When this occurred the capacity of the 

campground was reduced from 50 sites 

to 18, with a maximum of six people per 

site. The use of the current location for 

the campground was initially intended to 

be temporary and the level and quality of 

facilities reflect this. The current site is now 

to be made permanent and funding has 

been allocated to increase the capacity of 

the campground and upgrade the level of 

facilities.

The Authority will 
investigate the feasibility 
of a marina development 
through a public/private 
partnership.
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In 2011-12 existing campsites were 

relocated and new sites created to ensure 

that they would not be subject to flooding, 

and that exposure to the elements while 

camping was minimised. A new barbeque 

facility was built and landscaping works 

undertaken. These works were completed 

and a total of 23 campsites were available 

to visitors before the summer period.

The implementation of the Stage 2 upgrade 

during 2013 will further increase the 

camping capacity from 23 to 40 sites.  

New toilet facilities, camp kitchen and a 

luggage shelter are being designed.  

The new toilet facilities will provide 

universal access and family change rooms. 

Some areas of lawn will be provided for 

recreation with additional facilities such 

as picnic tables, bike racks, lighting and 

formalised access pathways. The project is 

expected to be completed in winter 2013.

Community Engagement

Community Engagement comprises several 

streams of activity including education, 

interpretation, and volunteer management. 

All streams focus on increasing the 

understanding of Rottnest Island’s natural 

and cultural environments and encouraging 

visitors to a call to action to preserve the 

Island for future generations.

Education includes the delivery of a formal 

curriculum-linked education program to 

school and youth groups, community 

activities through school holiday programs 

and professional development courses 

for teachers. More than 4,000 students 

and teachers from 91 schools have 

participated in curriculum-linked activities 

through the year as part of the school 

education program.

Approximately 5,500 children and adults 

have also participated in school holiday 

activity programs run by the Authority 

in collaboration with the Rottnest Island 

Volunteer Guides, Recfishwest, Department 

of Fisheries, Tangaroa Blue and Birds 

Australia. Key initiatives for the year 

included:

•	 Introduction	of	new	curriculum-

linked activities, an additional suite 

of experiences for the corporate 

market and increased engagement 

opportunities with visitors during the 

school holiday program;

•	 Re-connecting	with	the	schools’	

network through the delivery of a 

teacher familiarisation workshop, 

staff attendance at Seaweek and 

Scitech Excursions expo and presence 

in Edcursions magazine and WA 

Government and Independent Schools 

Wall Planner; and

•	 Upgrading	the	Discovery	Centre	to	

become a functioning activities room 

for school and holiday programs.

Information was developed across various 

media to engage all visitors including:

•	 Coastal	walk	trail	signage	at	West	End	

and Parker Point;

•	 Update	of	Terrestrial	Environment	

booklet;

•	 Development	of	Wadjemup	Aboriginal	

heritage booklet;

•	 Heritage	street	sign	installation;

•	 Campground	Orientation:	Stage	1	

completed;

•	 Exhibition	management	within	the	Salt	

Store with nine artists utilising this 

space and three home exhibitions 

including Heritage Week, National 

Volunteer Week and 100 Years of 

Tourism;

•	 In-kind	support	for	Aboriginal	artists	

through the provision of exhibition 

space in the Salt Store Exhibition 

Centre; and

•	 Support	for	geotourism	research	

student.

With more than 1,500 individual volunteers 

contributing to in excess of 4,000 

volunteering opportunities, there were 

collectively more than 30,000 volunteering 

hours carried out across a range of 

projects on the Island. Activities included, 

but were not limited to, fauna and flora 

monitoring and surveys, public and special 

request tours, fishing clinics, woodland 

restoration projects, construction works 

programs, sea wall painting, tree planting, 

sea spurge weeding and beach clean up 

programs. 
PAM GHIRARDI 

ANN JONES
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New opportunities for engagement of 

volunteers in 2011-12 included wildlife 

monitoring	of	the	NZ	Fur	Seal	and	

facilitation of an Earthwatch pilot project for 

corporate volunteers.

Community education campaigns 

undertaken through the year included:

•	 A	Wildlife	in	the	Settlement	campaign	

to reduce littering and feeding animals;

•	 Sustainability	campaign	for	visitors	to	

be conscious of their impact on the 

environment; and

•	 Celebrating	100	Years	of	Tourism	for	

Rottnest Island.

Climate Change Impacts

The Authority continues to consider the 

potential effects of climate change. There 

may be significant impacts on the ecology, 

landscapes and iconic species such as 

quokkas, Western Rock Lobster and 

migratory wading birds. Climate change 

may also impact marine facilities through 

changing water levels, storms and storm 

surges, and the terrestrial environment 

including the Island’s heritage and other 

built structures, resulting in additional costs 

to protect and maintain such structures.

Research and consultation with experts and 

stakeholders will be ongoing to develop 

an understanding of the potential impact 

of climate change on both the Island 

environment and on its tourism business. 

Appropriate mitigation and adaptation 

responses will be assessed and factored 

into the management and operations of the 

Island.

Carbon Footprint

•	 Although	the	Authority’s	contribution	

to greenhouse emissions is minor, a 

review of trends since 2007 indicates 

that total greenhouse gas emissions 

have	increased	by	approximately	21%,	

equating to an 837-tonne increase in 

four years.

•	 The	overall	increase	in	Authority	

greenhouse emissions since 2007 was 

primarily attributed to an increase in 

the use of industrial diesel (322kL and 

863.10t CO2-e) for energy production 

on the Island which accounted for 

approximately	72%	of	the	Authority’s	

greenhouse emissions in 2011-12.

•	 The	high	usage	of	industrial	fuel	is	a	

result of the necessity for the Island 

to produce its own electricity, of 

which the Authority is the heaviest 

user	consuming	51%	of	total	energy	

produced on the Island. Other key 

contributing factors include the 

increased electricity consumption of 

offices	at	E-Shed,	Fremantle	(42%	

increase in tCO2-e) since 2007.

•	 Although	the	Authority	has	seen	an	

increase in overall emissions since 

2007, there have been some areas 

of improvement, such as decreased 

unleaded	petrol	fuel	consumption	(38%	

decrease).

The Authority  
continues to consider  
the potential effects  
of climate change.
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The Island’s rich cultural heritage is 

managed to ensure heritage assets 

are identified, protected and conserved 

for the enjoyment of current and future 

generations of visitors. Cultural heritage 

management includes care of 142 

heritage places and more than 2000 

historic artefacts as well as an oral and 

archival history collection. In addition to 

conserving places and objects, cultural 

heritage management provides services 

and support for schools and university 

programs, special interest and community 

groups.

Successful cultural heritage management 

of Rottnest Island is delivered through:

•	 Aboriginal	engagement	and	liaison;

•	 Identifying	stories,	histories	and	places	

of significance;

•	 Protecting	and	conserving	heritage	

sites, buildings and objects;

•	 Interpreting	places	and	artefacts,	

stories and memories; and

•	 Participation	in	school	education	and	

tertiary training programs, holiday 

activities, volunteer programs and 

group requests.

Collection Care

During 2011-12, the Authority recorded 

more than 320 artefacts and images into 

the Rottnest Museum collection database, 

with significant objects being donated 

to the Rottnest Museum. A new display 

was created in the museum explaining 

the results of recent archaeological 

investigations at the Old Mill and Hay Store.

The Authority also manages the Rottnest 

Island art collection with ongoing condition 

assessments and accessioning, and has 

been working with Fremantle Prison to 

support a Rottnest Island exhibition in the 

Fremantle Gaol.

building Conservation and Site 
Management

The following building conservation and site 

management activities took place during 

the year:

•	 Planned	maintenance	program	ongoing	

for all State Registered heritage sites 

including reporting on condition of 

buildings and site disturbance checks 

prior to works in heritage areas;

•	 Development	applications	on	the	Island	

were assessed for impact on heritage 

values;

•	 Completion	of	a	Section	18	application	

under the Aboriginal Heritage Act 
1972 to enable improvements to the 

Rottnest Island Golf Course

•	 Identification	of	two	new	sites	as	part	

of the Heritage survey;

•	 Conservation	works	included	repairs	of	

the historic wall around Hotel Rottnest, 

repair and stabilisation of WWII 

structures for public access, window 

repair, structural works and painting 

at Kingstown Barracks and heritage 

accommodation; and

•	 Heritage	assessments	completed	for	

five heritage places, supporting their 

inclusion on the Authority’s Heritage 

Asset Register.

Community Participation

The Authority contributed to the following 

community activities through the year:

•	 Provided	heritage	content	for	key	

events including Anzac Day and 

National Heritage Week;

Cultural Heritage









National Heritage Week was celebrated  

on the Island in April 2012

Important World War II military installations were stabilised and conserved with more than  

$250,000 spent on specialised conservation  

and maintenance works

More than 75 State heritage listed sites,  

including registered Aboriginal sites 

2,000 historic objects and images were recorded  

and monitored
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•	 Photographic	exhibition	“Some	Things	

Never Change” and series of postcards 

developed from historic photograph 

collection;

•	 Continuation	of	Open	House	Heritage	

days with the addition of theatrical 

“After Dark” performance for overnight 

visitors;

•	 Delivery	of	tailored	tours	and	guest	

speaking for community, education 

and social groups visiting the Island on 

request;

•	 Partnering	with	Royal	Australian	

Artillery Historical Society in support of 

the 75th Anniversary of WWII military 

installations in Western Australia; and

•	 Presentations	and	participation	

in heritage seminars and forums 

addressing heritage issues.

Oral and Archival History Program

The Authority continued with its Oral and 

Archival History Program, which includes 

the digital recording of interviews, stories 

and histories, and the transcription of oral 

histories from old technology onto digitally 

accessible formats. 

More than 20 excellent leads were 

received from visitors during National 

Heritage Week. Rottnest Island volunteers 

continue to provide valuable support to 

the Authority’s Archives and Oral History 

Program.

In addition to conserving 
places and objects, cultural 
heritage management 
provides services and support 
for schools and university 
programs, special interest 
and community groups.
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Infrastructure, Utilities and Services
The Authority provides a wide variety of utility services and community infrastructure which are normally the responsibility of other 

government agencies and suppliers on the mainland. The below table provides a good understanding of the utilities services provided by 

the Authority and the associated costs.

Summary of utility services and infrastructure management provided by the Authority during 2011-12

Item Quantity Supplied Rottnest Island Costs Mainland Prices 
(Metropolitan Perth)

Power 4.9 million kW $0.35 per kWh $0.22 per kWh

Liquefied Petroleum Gas (mostly bottled) 293,765 litres $163 per 45 Kg bottle $158 per 45 Kg bottle

Potable Water 119,266 kL $3.55 per kL $1.19 - $2.16 per kL 
(scaled charge)

Waste management  

Residential 

Commercial

1058 tonnes 

N/A 

N/A

 

$165.65 pa per 240L bin 

$662.64 pa per 1100L bin

 

$259.50 pa per 240L bin 

N/A. Prices based on usage

Fuel (transport to the Island)              Total 
Diesel 

Unleaded 

Premium Unleaded

1.336 million litres 

1.195 million litres 

89,015 litres 

52,149 litres

 

$1.45 per litre 

$1.40 per litre 

$1.46 per litre

 

$1.50 per litre 

$1.43 per litre 

$1.53 per litre

Luggage delivered 176,000 items $3.90 per item N/A

Roads maintained 70 kms $3,571 per km N/A

Jetties managed 6 N/A N/A

Airport managed 1 N/A N/A

Notes:
1. Rottnest Island costs are actual costs and prices charged to consumers may be different.
2. N/A denotes the information is not available or applicable.

Works and Contract Services

During 2011-12, the Authority has 

overseen the provision of key facilities, 

operations and utility services on the 

Island. It has delivered in excess of $3.4 

million in capital projects and maintained 

the Island’s buildings and infrastructure to 

enhance the visitor experience by providing 

a safe and clean holiday environment.

Facilities and Utilities Management

The Authority is responsible for managing 

the provision of utility services on the Island 

and maintenance of all built infrastructure 

through contracted service providers. 

These contractors are specifically engaged 

to maintain the Island’s buildings and 

equipment and to operate utilities, public 

area cleaning, waste management and 

general transport services including 

luggage delivery.

Power

All power requirements for the Island are 

generated locally using a combination of 

diesel generators and a wind turbine. The 

Authority generates, distributes and retails 

power under licence from the Economic 

Regulation Authority.

The total power generated during the 

year was 4.9 million kilowatts, of which 

1.4	million	(29.2%)	was	generated	by	

the Island’s wind turbine, and the balance 

supplied through diesel generation. The 

wind turbine generated the equivalent of 

409,403 litres of diesel fuel, saving the 

Authority an estimated $462,000.

Capital works undertaken during  

2011-12 included out-of-frame rebuilds 

for generators 3 and 5 at the powerhouse 

and upgrading the power supply capacity 

to Hotel Rottnest and Dôme Rottnest cafe. 

The supply upgrade incorporated alternate 

interconnections to minimise power 

disruptions in the event of outages.
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Water Services

The Authority provides potable water and 

treats waste water on the Island under 

licence from the Economic Regulation 

Authority and the Department of 

Environment and Conservation.

There were 119,266 kilolitres of potable 

water produced during the year. The 

desalination	plant	produced	83%	of	this	

amount and the remainder was sourced 

from groundwater bores. Potable water is 

stored in a series of tanks connected to the 

water distribution network.

All waste water is biologically treated at 

the Rottnest Island Waste Water Treatment 

Plant using a cyclic activated sludge 

process. A small percentage is currently 

recycled for irrigation purposes on the 

cricket oval. There were 68,000 kilolitres 

of waste water treated during the year.

Liquid Petroleum Gas

A mix of reticulated and bottled Liquid 

Petroleum Gas (LPG) is used to provide 

gas on the Island including the Authority’s 

accommodation facilities (e.g. hot water 

systems and cooking facilities), as well as 

run a range of appliances used by visitors 

and residents, such as barbecues. Most 

commercial businesses operating on the 

Island also utilise LPG for their operations. 

During the year 293,765 litres of gas were 

used on the Island.

Waste Management

Approximately 1,058 tonnes of waste 

is generated on the Island each year of 

which	33%	is	recycled.	Waste	suitable	

for recycling is separated prior to 

transportation and includes plastics, glass, 

paper, cardboard, oils, tyres, metals 

and biosolids. The Authority’s waste 

management strategy has resulted in the 

reduced usage of the Island landfill site 

and the majority of waste streams being 

transported to the mainland.

Licensing

The Authority is required to comply with 

the following licences and conditions 

with regard to its utilities and major 

infrastructure, which are the same as those 

applied to large corporations such as Verve 

Energy and the Water Corporation.

Function
Renewal 

frequency

Electrical Supply  

Licence (Integrated 

Regional Licence)

30 years

Electrical Services  

(Power Reticulation)
30 years

Electrical Contractors 

Licence
1 year

Communications Two-Way 

Radio Repeater
1 year

Communications  

Maritime Coast
1 year

Communications  

Maritime Ship
1 year

Water Operating Licence 

(Potable, Drainage and 

Sewerage)

20 years

Waste Water Treatment 

Plant Licence
5 years

Ground Water 10 years

Waste Management 5 years

Ground Well Licence N/A

The Authority provides 
a wide variety of utility 
services and community 
infrastructure which 
are normally the 
responsibility of other 
government agencies  
and suppliers.
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Financial Sustainability
The downturn in visitor numbers during the 

year had an adverse effect on Rottnest 

Island in that it reduced commercial 

revenues to the Authority. At the same time 

the cost of labour and goods and services 

to operate the Island increased above the 

official rate of Consumer Price Index. This 

placed the Authority under heavy financial 

pressure for the year resulting in a net 

financial loss.

The State Government’s commitment 

in the 2011-12 budgeting process to 

progressively fund the natural environment 

and cultural heritage management 

functions will assist the Authority’s 

finances to some extent. The Government 

contributed $1 million in 2011-12, which 

will increase to $2 million in 2012-13 and 

$3 million in 2013-14.

Additionally, the following strategies are 

currently being adopted by the Authority to 

address its financial situation:

•	 Restructuring	operations	to	focus	

on sales, marketing and product 

development, as well as improvements 

to Island infrastructure.

•	 Continuing	to	pursue	a	range	of	

options to achieve long-term financial 

sustainability, while upgrading the 

utilities and recreational facilities.

•	 Continuing	to	seek	the	engagement	

of an external provider to manage the 

provision of utility services on Rottnest 

Island, which includes providing 

power, gas, water and waste water 

management. The provision of utility 

services requires significant capital 

investment, high operating costs 

and expertise to meet demanding 

regulatory requirements.

Island Infrastructure  
and Utilities
The Authority has undertaken a rejuvenation 

of its Rottnest Island accommodation 

during the past several years. There is 

now a focus on upgrading infrastructure 

including utilities, commercial buildings, 

jetties, roads, pathways and recreational 

facilities such as tennis courts and shade 

covers. The Authority has progressed in 

several of these areas during 2011-12 and 

this will continue over the next few years. 

The major items due for upgrade are listed 

below:

•	 Replacement	of	the	waste	water	

treatment plant, which is nearing the 

end of its useful life;

•	 Upgrading	and	reticulation	of	the	golf	

course; and

•	 Upgrading	and	expansion	of	the	

camping ground facility.

Visitor Trends
The number of tourist visits to Rottnest 

Island fluctuates within a band of 450,000 

to 550,000 annually. This is caused by a 

range of factors including variational shifts 

in the local economy, weather patterns, 

currency exchange rates and overseas 

events such as the outbreak of new diseases.

The Island has experienced a decline in 

visitor numbers during 2011-12 which 

was to some extent caused by overseas 

competition, a strong Australian dollar and 

cheap air fares. The Authority is developing 

an aggressive marketing and promotional 

strategy to increase visitation and sales 

revenue, which will include enhanced and 

new tourism products. The strategy  

will be guided by the results of the 

extensive market research conducted 

during 2011-12.

S I g N I f I C A N T   I S S U E S   A N D  T R E N D S

The downturn in visitor 
numbers during the year 
had an adverse effect on 
Rottnest Island in that 
it reduced commercial 
revenues to the Authority.
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Legislation Review
The Rottnest Island Authority Act 1987 

(the Act) has not been reviewed since its 

proclamation. A review of the Act will be 

conducted during 2012-13.

The Authority considers that its functions, 

responsibilities and operating conditions 

need to reflect changing community 

expectations and pressures impacting 

the management of the Island. Areas that 

require clarification include:

•	 The	Authority’s	responsibility	for	all	

community infrastructure and utilities 

without the ability to recuperate full 

costs to maintain the asset investment;

•	 The	Authority’s	requirement	to	perform	

in a commercial manner without the 

flexibility to act commercially, due to 

Government policy constraints; and

•	 Rottnest	Island’s	disadvantage	from	

having neither metropolitan nor 

regional status. For example, the 

Authority is not able to access various 

grant funding normally available to 

regional operators, yet has all the 

challenges of operating in a remote 

location.

The Authority is exploring new ways of 

governing the Island that will enable it to 

achieve its sustainability objectives. The 

Island’s stakeholders and community will be 

consulted before any legislation changes 

are proposed. This is a major undertaking, 

and engagement of the community will be 

paramount to the success of this initiative.

Sustainability
Through the Rottnest Island Management 

Plan, the Authority has articulated its 

commitment to achieving sustainability in 

three main areas – financial, environmental 

and social. The Authority has taken a 

strategic approach to protect and maintain 

the Island for future generations. The 

Authority has now established a strong 

foundation for sustainability with the 

development of relevant policies.

It is envisaged that the next two years will 

see significant progress in this area, with 

tangible reductions in the resource usage 

rates being achieved. During this period an 

Environmental Management System will be 

implemented and an external independent 

assessment (such as EarthCheck 

Certification) will be sought in regard to the 

Authority’s sustainability program.

The Authority considers 
that its functions, 
responsibilities and 
operating conditions 
need to reflect changing 
community expectations 
and pressures impacting 
the management of  
the Island.
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CERTIFICATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012 

The accompanying financial statements of the Rottnest Island Authority have 
been prepared in compliance with the provisions of the Financial Management 
Act 2006 from proper accounts and records to present fairly the financial 
transactions for the financial year ending 30 June 2012 and the financial 
position as at 30 June 2012. 

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would 
render the particulars included in the financial statements misleading or 
inaccurate.

John Driscoll   Robert McDonald  Othmar Beerli 
Chairman  Member           Chief Finance Officer 
17 September 2012   17 September 2012   17 September 2012 
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ROTTNEST ISLAND AUTHORITY 
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012  
Note 2012 2011

$000 $000
  

INCOME 
Revenue 
Sales 6 257 132
Provision of services 7 28,488 30,507
Commonwealth grants and contributions 8 6 -
Interest revenue 9 1,066 1,172
Other revenue 622 321
Gains
Gains on disposal of non-current assets - -
Total Income 30,439 32,132

 
EXPENSES  
Cost of sales 6 149  109
Employee benefits expense 11 10,602  9,796
Supplies and services 12 18,452  16,471
Depreciation and amortisation expense 13 4,728  5,053
Finance costs 14 248  224
Accommodation expenses 15 394  242
Loss on disposal of non-current assets 10 86  5
Other expenses 16 403  360
Total Expenses 35,062 32,260

Loss) before grants and subsidies from State 
Government (4,623) (128)

Grants and subsidies from State Government 17 3,469  2,245
Services received free of charge  18 94 -
Profit/(loss) for the period (1,060) 2,117

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
Changes in asset revaluation surplus 30 (6,228) 2
Total other comprehensive income (6,226) -
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD (7,286) 2,119

See also note 38 ‘Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service’ 

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
notes.



Annual Report   2011-2012           45

ROTTNEST ISLAND AUTHORITY 
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
   

AS AT 30 JUNE 2012  
Note 2012 2011

$000 $000
ASSETS  
Current Assets  
  Cash and cash equivalents 31 5,781 14,152
  Inventories 19 167 151
  Receivables 20 1,375 1,043
  Other financial assets 21 5,500 6,000
Total Current Assets 12,823 21,346

 
Non-Current Assets  

  Property, plant , equipment and vehicles  22 206,122 210,480
  Infrastructure 23 23,908 27,044
  Intangible assets 24 1,146 1,336
  Other financial assets 21 10,500 -
Total Non-Current Assets 241,676 238,860

TOTAL ASSETS 254,499 260,206
 

LIABILITIES  
Current Liabilities  
  Payables 26 5,312  3,125
  Borrowings 27 153  144
  Provisions 28 1,886  1,776
  Other current liabilities 29 8,737  9,267
Total Current Liabilities 16,088 14,312

Non-Current Liabilities 
  Borrowings 27  284  437
  Provisions 28 790  733
  Other non-current liabilities 29 933  1,033

Total Non-Current liabilities 2,007 2,203

Total Liabilities 18,095 16,515

NET ASSETS 236,404 243,691

EQUITY
  Contributed equity 30 50,032  50,032
  Reserves 30 181,614 187,842
  Retained earnings 30 4,758  5,817
TOTAL EQUITY 236,404 243,691

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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ROTTNEST ISLAND AUTHORITY 
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

For the year ended 30 June 
2012    

 

Note 
Contributed 

equity Reserves
Retained 
earnings

Total
Equity

$000 $000 $000 $000
Balance at 1 July 2010 30 50,032 187,840 3,700  241,572 
  Surplus / (deficit)   -   -  2,117   2,117 
  Other comprehensive income  -  2 -  2 
Total comprehensive income 
for the period -  2 2,117  2,119 

Balance at 30 June 2011 50,032 187,842 5,818  243,691 
 

Balance at 1 July 2011 50,032 187,842 5,818  243,691 

  Surplus / (deficit)  -  -  -1,060  -1,060 

  Other comprehensive income  -  -6,228 -  -6,228
Total comprehensive income 
for the period  -  -6,228 -1,060 -7,288

Balance at 30 June 2012 50,032 181,614 4,758 236,404 

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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ROTTNEST ISLAND AUTHORITY 
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012  
Note 2012 2011

$000 $000
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES  
Receipts  
Sale of goods and services  257  132
Provision of services  27,640 29,982
Commonwealth grants and contributions  6 -
Interest received  893  1,154
GST receipts on sales  2,830  2,861
GST receipts from taxation authority  -  -
Other receipts  619  439

  
Payments  
Cost of Sales  (164)  (4)
Employee benefits  (10,277)  (9,570)
Supplies and services  (16,649)  (18,441)
Finance costs  (248)  (224)
GST payments on purchases  (2,112)  (2,320)
GST payments to taxation authority  (719)  (541)
Other payments  (383)  (368)

 
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 31 1,693 3,100

 
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
Receipts 
Proceeds from sale of non-current physical assets  
Proceeds from sale of investments  
Payments 
Proceeds from sale of non-current physical assets  -  (5)
Purchase of non-current physical assets  (3,357)  (2,418)
Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities (3,357)  (2,423)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
Receipts 
Proceeds from Borrowings  - 393
Payments 
Repayment of Borrowings  (144) (119)
Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities (144) 274

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT  
Grants and subsidies  3,437 2,245
Net cash provided by State Government 3,437 2,245
Net increase in cash held 1,629 3,196

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 20,152 16,956
Cash and cash equivalent at the end of the period 31 21,781 20,152

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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ROTTNEST ISLAND AUTHORITY 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012 

1 Australian Accounting Standards 

General 
The Rottnest Island Authority’s (“the Authority”) financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2012 
have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards. The term ‘Australian 
Accounting Standards’ includes Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting 
Standard Board (AASB). 

The Authority has adopted any applicable, new and revised Australian Accounting Standards from their 
operative dates.

Early adoption of standards 
The Authority cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by 
TI 1101 Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements.  There has been no 
early adoption of Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued or amended (but not operative) 
by the Authority for the annual reporting period ended 30 June 2012. 

2 Summary of significant accounting policies 

(a) General Statement 
The Authority is a not-for-profit reporting entity that prepares general purpose financial statements in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts 
and other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB as applied by the Treasurer's Instructions.  Several 
of these are modified by the Treasurer's Instructions to vary application, disclosure, format and wording.   

The Financial Management Act and the Treasurer's Instructions impose legislative provisions that govern 
the preparation of financial statements and take precedence over Australian Accounting Standards, the 
Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB.   

Where modification is required and has had a material or significant financial effect upon the reported 
results, details of that modification and the resulting financial effect are disclosed in the notes to the 
financial statements. 

(b) Basis of Preparation 
The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting using the historical cost 
convention, except for land, buildings and infrastructure which have been measured at fair value.  

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements have been consistently 
applied throughout all periods presented unless otherwise stated. 

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest 
thousand dollars ($’000). 

Note 3 ‘Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies’ discloses judgements that 
have been made in the process of applying the Authority’s accounting policies resulting in the most 
significant effect on amounts recognised in the financial statements. 

Note 4 ‘Key sources of estimation uncertainty’ discloses key assumptions made concerning the future, 
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant 
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year. 

c) Reporting Entity 
The reporting entity comprises the Rottnest Island Authority. 
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(d) Contributed equity 
AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities
requires transfers in the nature of equity contributions, other than as a result of a restructure of 
administrative arrangements, to be designated by the Government (the owner) as contributions by 
owners (at the time of, or prior to transfer) before such transfers can be recognised as equity  
contributions. Capital appropriations have been designated as contributions by owners by TI 955 
Contributions by Owners made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities and have been credited directly to 
Contributed equity. 

The transfers of net assets to/from other agencies, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative 
arrangements, are designated as contributions by owners where the transfers are non-discretionary and 
non-reciprocal. 

(e) Income 
Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable. Revenue 
is recognised for the major business activities as follows: 

Sale of goods 
Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets when the significant risks and 
rewards of ownership transfer to the purchaser and can be measured reliably. 

Provision of Services 
Revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction. 

Interest 
Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues. 

Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions 
Revenue is recognised at fair value when the Authority obtains control over the assets comprising the 
contributions, usually when cash is received. 

Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not contributions by owners are recognised at their fair value. 
Contributions of services are only recognised when a fair value can be reliably determined and the 
services would be purchased if not donated. 

Rental income is accounted for on a straight line basis over the lease term. Rental income is recognised 
as income in the periods in which it is earned. 

Gains
Realised and unrealised gains are usually recognised on a net basis. These include gains arising on the 
disposal of non-current assets and some revaluations of non-current assets. 

(f) Property, plant and equipment and infrastructure 
Capitalisation/Expensing of assets 
Items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure costing $5,000 or more are recognised as 
assets and the cost of utilising assets is expensed (depreciated) over their useful lives.  Items of property, 
plant and equipment and infrastructure costing less than $5,000 are immediately expensed direct to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income (other than where they form part of a group of similar items which 
are significant in total). 

Initial recognition and measurement 
Property, plant and equipment and infrastructure are initially recognised at cost.   

For items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the 
cost is the fair value at the date of acquisition. 
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Subsequent measurement 
Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, the revaluation model is used for the measurement of land, 
buildings and infrastructure and historical cost for all other property, plant and equipment.  Land, buildings 
and infrastructure are carried at fair value less accumulated depreciation (buildings and infrastructure 
only) and accumulated impairment losses.  All other items of property, plant and equipment are stated at 
historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 

In the absence of market-based evidence, fair value of land and buildings is determined on the basis of
existing use. This normally applies where buildings are specialised or where land use is restricted. Fair 
value for existing use assets is determined by reference to the cost of replacing the remaining future 
economic benefits embodied in the asset, ie. the depreciated replacement cost. Where the fair value of 
buildings is determined on the depreciated replacement cost basis, the gross carrying amount and the 
accumulated depreciation are restated proportionally. 

Land and buildings are independently valued annually by the Western Australian Land Information 
Authority (Valuation Services) and recognised annually to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ 
materially from the asset’s fair value at the end of the reporting period. A physical valuation occurs every 
3 to 5 years. 

Fair value of infrastructure has been determined by reference to the depreciated replacement cost 
(existing use basis) as the assets are specialised and no market-based evidence of value is available. 
Land under infrastructure is included in land reported under note 22 ‘Property, plant, equipment and 
vehicles. Independent valuations are obtained every 3 to 5 years. 

When infrastructure is revalued, the accumulated depreciation is restated proportionately with the change 
in the gross carrying amount of the asset so that the carrying amount of the asset after revaluation equals 
its revalued amount. 

The most significant assumptions in estimating fair value are made in assessing whether to apply the 
existing use basis to assets and in determining estimated useful life. Professional judgement by the 
valuer is required where the evidence does not provide a clear distinction between market type assets 
and existing use assets. Refer to note 22 ‘Property, plant, equipment and vehicles’ and note 23 
‘Infrastructure’ for further information on revaluations. 

De-recognition
Upon disposal or de-recognition of an item of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure, any 
revaluation surplus relating to that asset is retained in the asset revaluation surplus. 

Asset revaluation surplus
The asset revaluation surplus is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation of non-
current assets as described in note 22 ‘Property, plant, equipment and vehicles’. 

Depreciation
All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their estimated 
useful lives in a manner that reflects the consumption of their future economic benefits.   
Depreciation is calculated using the straight line method, using rates which are reviewed annually. 
Estimated useful lives for each class of depreciable asset are: 

Buildings …………………………………………………….. 20 to 40 years 
Computers & Electronic Equipment ……………………… 3 to 5 years 
Furniture …………………………………………………….. 3 to 5 years 
Plant & Vehicles ……………………………………………. 3 to 7 years 
Leasehold Improvements …………………………………. 10 to 15 years 
Infrastructure………………………………………………… 20 to 50 years 
Infrastructure – Gas Filing Stations ………………………. 1 to 3 years 

Works of art controlled by the Authority are classified as property, plant and equipment. These are 
anticipated to have indefinite useful lives. Their service potential has not, in any material sense, been 
consumed during the reporting period and consequently no depreciation has been recognised. Land is 
not depreciated. 
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(g) Intangible Assets
Capitalisation/Expensing of assets 
Acquisitions for intangible assets costing $5,000 or more and internally generated intangible assets 
costing $50,000 or more are capitalised. The cost of utilising the assets is expensed (amortised) over 
their useful life. Costs incurred below these thresholds are immediately expensed directly to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. For assets acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the 
cost is their fair value at the date of acquisition.  

The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any 
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. 

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is calculated for the period of the expected benefit 
(estimated useful life which is reviewed annually) on the straight line basis.  All intangible assets 
controlled by the Authority have a finite useful life and zero residual value. 

The expected useful lives for each class of intangible asset are: 

Software (a)…………………………………………………… 3 to 5 years 

Website Costs ………………………………………………. 1 to 3 years 

(a) Software that is not integral to the operation of any related hardware 

Computer software
Software that is an integral part of the related hardware is recognised as property, plant and equipment. 
Software that is not an integral part of the related hardware is treated as an intangible asset. Software 
costing less than $5,000 is expensed in the year of acquisition. 

Website costs
Website costs are charged as expenses when they are incurred unless they relate to the acquisition or 
development of an asset when they may be capitalised and amortised. Generally, costs in relation to 
feasibility studies during the planning phase of a website, and ongoing costs of maintenance during the 
operating phase are expensed. Costs incurred in building or enhancing a website, to the extent that they 
represent probable future economic benefits that can be reliably measured, are capitalised. 

(h) Impairment of Assets 
Property, plant and equipment, infrastructure and intangible assets are tested for any indication of 
impairment at the end of each reporting period. Where there is an indication of impairment, the 
recoverable amount is estimated. Where the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, the 
asset is considered impaired and is written down to the recoverable amount and an impairment loss is 
recognised. As the Authority is a not-for-profit entity, unless an asset has been identified as a surplus 
asset, the recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and depreciated 
replacement cost. 

The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is materially 
understated, where the replacement cost is falling or where there is a significant change in useful life. 
Each relevant class of assets is reviewed annually to verify that the accumulated 
depreciation/amortisation reflects the level of consumption or expiration of the asset’s future economic 
benefits and to evaluate any impairment risk from falling replacement costs. 

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for 
impairment at the end of each reporting period irrespective of whether there is any indication of 
impairment. 

The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus assets is the higher of fair value less costs to sell 
and the present value of future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset.  Surplus assets carried 
at fair value have no risk of material impairment where fair value is determined by reference to market-
based evidence.  Where fair value is determined by reference to depreciated replacement cost, surplus 
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assets are at risk of impairment and the recoverable amount is measured.  Surplus assets at cost are 
tested for indications of impairment at the end of each reporting period. 

(i) Leases 
Finance lease rights and obligations are initially recognised, at the commencement of the lease term, as 
assets and liabilities equal in amount to the fair value of the leased item or, if lower, the present value of 
the minimum lease payments, determined at the inception of the lease. The assets are disclosed as plant, 
equipment and vehicles under lease, and are depreciated over the period during which the Authority is 
expected to benefit from their use. Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge 
and the reduction of the outstanding lease liability, according to the interest rate implicit in the lease. 

Operating leases are expensed on a straight line basis over the lease term as this represents the pattern 
of benefits derived from the leased assets. 

(j) Financial Instruments 
In addition to cash and bank overdraft, the Authority has three categories of financial instrument: 
 Receivables; and 
 Term deposits; and 
 Financial Liabilities measured at amortised cost. 

Financial instruments have been disaggregated into the following classes: 

Financial Assets 
 Cash and cash equivalents; 
 Receivables; and 
 Term deposits. 

Financial Liabilities 
 Payables; and 
 Finance Lease Liabilities. 

Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at fair value which normally equates to the 
transaction cost or the face value. Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. 

The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the transaction cost or the face value because 
there is no interest rate applicable and subsequent measurement is not required as the effect of 
discounting is not material. 

(k) Cash and Cash Equivalents 
For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalent (and restricted cash and cash 
equivalent) assets comprise cash on hand and short-term deposits with original maturities of three 
months or less that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and which are subject to 
insignificant risk of changes in value. 

(l) Accrued Salaries 
Accrued salaries (see note 26 ‘Payables’) represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the 
financial year. Accrued salaries are settled within a fortnight of the financial year end. The Authority 
considers the carrying amount of accrued salaries to be equivalent to its net fair value. 

(m) Inventories 
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs are assigned by the 
weighted average cost method. 

Inventories not held for resale are measured at cost unless they are no longer required, in which case 
they are measured at net realisable value. 
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(n) Receivables 
Receivables are recognised at original invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectible amounts 
(i.e. impairment). The collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis and any receivables 
identified as uncollectible are written-off against the allowance account. The allowance for uncollectible 
amounts (doubtful debts) is raised when there is objective evidence that the Authority will not be able to 
collect the debts. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value as it is due for settlement within 30 days.  

(o) Payables 
Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the Authority becomes obliged to make future 
payments as a result of a purchase of assets or services. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, 
as settlement is generally within 30 days.  

(p) Borrowings 
All loans payable are initially recognised at fair value, being the net proceeds received. Subsequent 
measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. 

(q) Provisions 
Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or amount and are recognised where there is a present legal 
or constructive obligation as a result of a past event and when the outflow of resources embodying 
economic benefits is probable and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 
Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period. 

(i) Provisions – Employee Benefits 
All annual leave and long service leave provisions are in respect of employees’ services up to the end of 
the reporting period. 

Annual Leave  
The liability for annual leave that is expected to be settled within 12 months after the end of the reporting 
period is recognised and measured at the undiscounted amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities 
are settled.

Annual leave that is not expected to be settled within 12 months after the end of the reporting period is 
recognised and measured at the present value of amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are 
settled using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement. 

When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and salary 
levels including non-salary components such as employer superannuation contributions as well as the 
experience of employee departures and periods of service. The expected future payments are discounted 
using market yields at the end of the reporting period on national government bonds with terms to 
maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.  

The provision for annual leave is classified as a current liability as the Authority does not have an 
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting 
period. 

Long Service Leave 
The liability for long service leave that is expected to be settled within 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period is recognised and measured at the undiscounted amounts expected to be paid when the 
liability is settled. 

Long service leave that is not expected to be settled within 12 months after the end of the reporting period 
is recognised and measured at the present value of amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are 
settled using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement. 

When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and salary 
levels including non-salary components such as employer superannuation contributions, as well as the 
experience of employee departures and periods of service.  The expected future payments are 
discounted using market yields at the end of the reporting period on national government bonds with 
terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows. 
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Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as the Authority does not 
have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period.  Pre-conditional and conditional long service leave provisions are classified as non-
current liabilities because the Authority has an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability 
until the employee has completed the requisite years of service. 

Sick Leave
Liabilities for sick leave are recognised when it is probable that sick leave paid in the future will be greater 
than the entitlement that will accrue in the future. 

Past history indicates that on average, sick leave taken each reporting period is less than the entitlement 
accrued. This is expected to continue in future periods. Accordingly, it is unlikely that existing 
accumulated entitlements will be used by employees and no liability for unused sick leave entitlements is 
recognised. As sick leave is non-vesting, an expense is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income for this leave as it is taken. 

Purchased Leave 
The provision for purchased leave relates to Public Service employees who have entered into an 
agreement to self-fund up to additional four weeks leave per calendar year. The provision recognises the 
value of salary set aside for employees and is measured at the nominal amounts expected to be paid 
when liabilities are settled. The liability is measured on the same basis as annual leave.

Time in Lieu 
The flexible working hours provisions of the Authority’s enterprise bargaining agreement introduced the 
concept of annualised hours. At the end of the settlement period, when actual hours worked exceed the 
average aggregate ordinary hours, the employee will be paid for the excess hours, or the employee will 
take time in lieu at a mutually agreed time. 

Superannuation 
The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) administers public sector superannuation
arrangements in Western Australia in accordance with legislative requirements. 

Eligible employees contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme closed to new 
members since 1987, or the Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS), a defined benefit lump sum 
scheme closed to new members since 1995. 

Employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 2007 who were not members of either the Pension 
Scheme or the GSS became non-contributory members of the West State Superannuation Scheme 
(WSS). Employees commencing employment on or after 16 April 2007 became members of the GESB 
Super Scheme (GESBS). Both of these schemes are accumulation schemes. From 30 March 2012, 
existing members of the WSS or GESBS and new employees became able to choose their preferred 
superannuation fund. The Authority makes concurrent contributions to GESB on behalf of employees in 
compliance with the Commonwealth Government’s Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992.
These contributions extinguish the liability for superannuation charges in respect of the WSS and GESBS 
Schemes. 

The Pension Scheme and the pre-transfer benefit for employees who transferred to the GSS are defined 
benefit schemes. These benefits are wholly unfunded and the liabilities for future payments are provided 
at the end of the reporting period. The liabilities under these schemes have been calculated separately for 
each scheme annually by Mercers Human Resource Consulting using the projected unit credit method. 

The expected future payments are discounted to present value using market yields at the end of the 
reporting period on national government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, 
the estimated future cash outflows. 

The GSS, the WSS, and the GESBS, where the current service superannuation charge is paid by the 
Authority to the GESB, are defined contribution schemes. The liabilities for current service 
superannuation charges under the GSS, the WSS, and the GESBS are extinguished by the concurrent 
payment of employer contributions to the GESB. 
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The GSS is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of employees and whole-of-government reporting. 
However, from an agency perspective, apart from the transfer benefits, it is a defined contribution plan 
under AASB 119. 

 (ii) Provisions – Other 
Employment On-Costs 
Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation insurance, are not employee benefits and are 
recognised separately as liabilities and expenses when the employment to which they relate has 
occurred. Employment on-costs are included as part of ‘Other expenses’ and are not included as part of 
the Authority’s ‘Employee benefits expense’. The related liability is included in ‘Employment on-costs 
provision’.  

(r) Superannuation Expense 
The superannuation expense of the defined benefit plans is made up of the following elements: 

 Current service cost; 
 Interest cost (unwinding of the discount); 
 Actuarial gains and losses; and 
 Past service cost. 

Actuarial gains and losses of the defined benefit plans are recognised immediately as income or expense 
in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

The superannuation expense of the defined contribution plans is recognised as and when the 
contributions fall due. 

See also note 2 ‘Provisions – Employee Benefits’ under “Superannuation’. 

(s)  Resources Received Free of Charge or for Nominal Cost 
Resources received free of charge or for nominal cost that can be reliably measured are recognised as at 
fair value. Where the resource received represents a service that the Authority would otherwise pay for, a 
corresponding expense is recognised. Receipts of assets are recognised in the Statement of Financial 
Position.
Assets or services received from other State Government agencies are separately disclosed under 
Income from State Government in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

(t)  Comparative Figures 
Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified to be comparable with the figures presented in 
the current financial year. 

(u)  Segment Information 
Segment information is prepared in conformity with the accounting policies of the Authority as disclosed in 
note 2 and AASB 8 Operating Segments. Segment revenues and expenses are allocated on the basis of 
direct attribution and reasonable estimates of usage. 

Segment information has been disclosed by service. See note 40 ‘Schedule of Income and Expenses by 
service’. 

3   Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies 

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements about the application 
of accounting policies that have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. 
The Authority evaluates these judgements regularly. 
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4   Key sources of estimation uncertainty 

Key estimates and assumptions concerning the future are based on historical experience and various 
other factors that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets 
and liabilities within the next financial year. 

Long Service Leave
Several estimations and assumptions used in calculating the Authority’s long service leave provision 
include expected future salary rates, discount rates, employee retention rates and expected future 
payments. Changes in these estimations and assumptions may impact on the carrying amount of the long 
service leave provision. 

5   Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates 

Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard 
The authority has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards effective for annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010 that impacted on the Authority. 

AASB 1054 Australian Additional Disclosures

This Standard, in conjunction with AASB 2011-1 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising from the Trans-Tasman Convergence Project, removes 
disclosure requirements from other Standards and incorporates them in a single 
Standard to achieve convergence between Australian and New Zealand Accounting 
Standards.  There is no financial impact. 

AASB 2009-12 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASB 5, 8, 108, 110, 112, 119, 133, 
137, 139, 1023 & 1031 and Int 2, 4, 16, 1039 & 1052] 

This Standard makes editorial amendments to a range of Australian Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations.  There is no financial impact. 

AASB 2010-4 Further Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual 
Improvements Project [AASB 1, 7, 101 & 134 and Int 13] 

The amendments to AASB 7 clarify financial instrument disclosures in relation to credit 
risk.  The carrying amount of financial assets that would otherwise be past due or 
impaired whose terms have been renegotiated is no longer required to be disclosed.  
There is no financial impact. 

The amendments to AASB 101 clarify the presentation of the statement of changes in 
equity.  The disaggregation of other comprehensive income reconciling the carrying 
amount at the beginning and the end of the period for each component of equity is no 
longer required.  There is no financial impact. 

AASB 2010-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 101, 107, 112, 118, 
119, 121, 132, 133, 134, 137, 139, 140, 1023 & 1038 and Int 112, 115, 127, 132 & 
1042]

This Standard makes editorial amendments to a range of Australian Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations.  There is no financial impact. 

AASB 2010-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosures on Transfers of 
Financial Assets [AASB 1 & 7] 

This Standard introduces additional disclosure relating to transfers of financial assets 
in AASB 7.  An entity shall disclose all transferred financial assets that are not 
derecognised and any continuing involvement in a transferred asset existing at the 
reporting date, irrespective of when the related transfer transaction occurred.  There is 
no financial impact. 



Annual Report   2011-2012           57

AASB 2011-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Trans-Tasman 
Convergence Project [AASB 1, 5, 101, 107, 108, 121, 128, 132 & 134 and Int 2, 112 & 
113]

This Standard, in conjunction with AASB 1054, removes disclosure requirements from 
other Standards and incorporates them in a single Standard to achieve convergence 
between Australian and New Zealand Accounting Standards.  There is no financial 
impact.

AASB 2011-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Extending Relief from 
Consolidation, the Equity Method and Proportionate Consolidation [AASB 127, 128 & 
131]

This Standard extends the relief from consolidation, the equity method and 
proportionate consolidation by removing the requirement for the consolidated financial 
statements prepared by the ultimate or any intermediate parent entity to be IFRS 
compliant, provided that the parent entity, investor or venturer and the ultimate or 
intermediate parent entity are not-for-profit non-reporting entities that comply with 
Australian Accounting Standards.  There is no financial impact.

Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative 
The Authority cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 
1101 Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements. Consequently, the 
Authority has not applied early any of the following Australian Accounting Standards that have been 
issued that may impact the Authority. Where applicable, the Authority plans to apply these Standards 
from their application date: 

Operative for 
reporting 
periods 

beginning 
on/after

AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement 

This Standard defines fair value, sets out a framework for measuring 
fair value and requires disclosures about fair value measurements.  
There is no financial impact. 

1 Jan 2013 

AASB 119 Employee Benefits 

This Standard supersedes AASB 119 Employee Benefits,
introducing a number of changes to accounting treatments. 

The Standard was issued in September 2011.  The Authority has not 
yet determined the application or the potential impact of the 
Standard.

1 Jan 2013 

AASB 1053 Application of Tiers of Australian Accounting Standards 

This Standard establishes a differential financial reporting framework 
consisting of two tiers of reporting requirements for preparing 
general purpose financial statements.  There is no financial impact. 

1 Jul 2013 

AASB 2009-11 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from 
AASB 9 [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 121, 127, 128, 
131, 132, 136, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 10 & 12] 

[Modified by AASB 2010-7]

1 Jul 2013 
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AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from 
AASB 9 (December 2010) [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 
118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 137, 139, 1023 & 1038 and 
Int 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 127] 

This Standard makes consequential amendments to other Australian 
Accounting Standards and Interpretations as a result of issuing 
AASB 9 in December 2010.  The Authority has not yet determined 
the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2013 

AASB 2011-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from 
AASB 13 [AASB 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 7, 9, 2009-11, 2010-7, 101, 102, 108, 
110, 116, 117, 118, 119, 120, 121, 128, 131, 132, 133, 134, 136, 
138, 139, 140, 141, 1004, 1023 & 1038 and Int 2, 4, 12, 13, 14, 17, 
19, 131 & 132] 

This Standard replaces the existing definition and fair value 
guidance in other Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations as the result of issuing AASB 13 in September 2011.  
There is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2013 

AASB 2011-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Presentation of 
Items of Other Comprehensive Income [AASB 1, 5, 7, 101, 112, 120, 
121, 132, 133, 134, 1039 & 1049] 

This Standard requires to group items presented in other 
comprehensive income on the basis of whether they are potentially 
reclassifiable to profit or loss subsequently (reclassification 
adjustments).  The Authority has not yet determined the application 
or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jul 2012 

AASB 2011-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from 
AASB 119 (September 2011) [AASB 1, 8, 101, 124, 134, 1049 & 
2011-8 and Int 14] 

This Standard makes amendments to other Australian Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations as a result of issuing AASB 119 
Employee Benefits in September 2011.  The Authority has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2013 

AASB 2011-11 Amendments to AASB 119 (September 2011) arising from Reduced 
Disclosure Requirements 

This Standard gives effect to Australian Accounting Standards – 
Reduced Disclosure Requirements for AASB 119 (September 2011).  
There is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2013 

6 Trading profit 
2012 2011
$000 $000

Sales 257  132
Cost of Sales: 
  Opening Inventory (30)  (31)
  Purchases (151)  (108)

(181)  (139)
  Closing Inventory 32 30
Cost of Goods Sold (149)  (109)
Trading profit 108 23



Annual Report   2011-2012           59

7 Provision of services 
2012 2011
$000 $000

Accommodation charges 14,427 15,244
Facilities and tours 3,813 4,876
Admission fees 4,951 5,272
Lease and licence income 3,318 3,258
Utility charges 1,307 1,247
Housing rentals 672 610

28,488 30,507

8 Commonwealth grants and contribution 
2012 2011
$000 $000

Department of EDU, Employment and Workplace Relations 6 -
6 -

9 Interest revenue 
2012 2011
$000 $000

Interest revenue 1,066 1,172
1,066 1,172

Interest revenue is sourced from cash and cash equivalents invested in interest bearing accounts. 

10 Net gain/(loss) on disposal of non-current assets 
2012 2011
$000 $000

Cost of disposal of non-current assets
Plant, vehicles and furniture (86) -
Proceeds from disposal of non-current assets
Plant, vehicles and furniture  (5)
Net loss (86) (5)

11 Employee benefits expense   
2012 2011
$000 $000

Wages and salaries (a) 8,740 8,183
Superannuation - defined contribution plans (b) 762 715
Superannuation - defined benefit plans (see note 9(i)) 145 170
Long service leave  (c) 181 210
Annual leave  (c) 712 444
Other related expenses 62 74

10,602 9,796

(a) Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus the fringe benefits tax component, 
leave entitlements including superannuation contribution component. 
(b) Defined contribution plans include West State, Gold State and GESB Super Scheme 
(contributions paid). 
(c) Includes a superannuation contribution component. 

Employment on-costs expenses, such as workers’ compensation insurance and payroll tax are 
included at note 16 'Other Expenses'.  
Employment on-costs liability is included at note 28 'Provisions'. 
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12 Supplies and services 
2012 2011
$000 $000

Contractors 13,850 11,801
Administration expense 1,204 1,035
Other Staffing Costs 1,290 1,543
Repairs and maintenance 1,113 1,082
Vehicle leasing 100 143
IT system development 107 76
Marketing expenses 450 456
Other supplies & services costs 338 335

18,452 16,471

13 Depreciation and amortisation expense   
2012 2011
$000 $000

Depreciation 
Buildings 2,313  2,297
Computers and electronic equipment 42 54
Furniture  225 328
Plant and vehicles 622 625
Leasehold improvements 25 20
Infrastructure 1,214  1,490
Total Depreciation 4,441 4,814

Amortisation 
Intangible assets 287 239
Total Amortisation 287 239
Total depreciation and amortisation 4,728 5,053

14 Finance costs   
2012 2011
$000 $000

Finance lease charges 31 18
Interest expense 20
Fees 197 224

248 242

15 Accommodation expenses   
2012 2011
$000 $000

Lease rentals 294 183
Cleaning 50 0
Other accommodation expenses 50 59

394 242



Annual Report   2011-2012           61

16 Other expenses 2012 2011
$000 $000

Furniture, fittings and equipment replacement 138 177
Doubtful debts expense 20 (38)
Employment on-costs  (a) 29 131
Research and development 73 38
Other – Write-down of assets 54 52
Audit fees 89 -

403 360

(a) Includes workers’ compensation insurance and payroll tax employment on-costs. The on-costs 
liability associated with the recognition of annual and long service leave liability is included at note 
28 'Provisions'. Superannuation contributions accrued as part of the provision for leave are 
employee benefits and are not included in employment on-costs.

17 Grants and subsidies from State Government 2012 2011
$000 $000

State Government Operating Grant 3,268 2,200
Office of Crime Prevention 22 25
Western Australian Planning Commission 127 -
Department of Transport 50 -
Other 2 20

3,469 2,245

State Government Operating Grant 
The State Government Operating Grant represents the contribution made under the Department of 
Treasury and Finance - Administered Transactions - Grants, Subsidies and Transfer Payments, 
Item 15 - Rottnest Island Authority. 

  

18 Services received free of charge 
2012 2011
$000 $000

State Government   
State Solicitors Office 94 -

Total services received free of charge 94 -

19 Inventories 2012 2011
$000 $000

Current
Inventories held for resale 
Visitors centre stock 25 25
Bike hire stock 7 5

32 30

Inventories not held for resale 
Materials 8 -
Fuels 127 121

135 121
Total Current 167 151
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20 Receivables 
2012 2011
$000 $000

Current
Receivables 707 1,537
GST receivable 235 166
Interest receivable 236 63
Other receivables 165 94
Prepayments 30 48
Accrued Revenue 92 74

1,465 1,982
Allowance for impairment of receivables (90) (939)
Total Current 1,375 1,043

Reconciliation of changes in the allowance for impairment of 
receivables
Balance at the start of period 939 977
Doubtful debts expense  20 (9)
Amounts written off during the period (869) (29)
Balance at the end of period 90 939

The Authority does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements as security for 
receivables. 

21 Other Financial Assets 
2012 2011
$000 $000

Current
At cost:
Term deposits 5,500 6,000
Total current 5,500 6,000

Non current
At cost:
Term deposits 10,500 -
Total non-current 10,500 -

22 Property, plant, equipment and vehicles   
2012 2011
$000 $000

Land
At fair value (i) 127,000 126,700

Buildings
At fair value (i) 97,041 100,719
Accumulated depreciation (21,209) (19,078)

75,832 81,641

Computers and electronic equipment 
At cost 895 1,257
Accumulated depreciation (850) (1,172)

45 85

20 Receivables 
2012 2011
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Furniture 
At cost 2,579 1,996
Accumulated depreciation (1,928) (1,708)

651 288

Plant and Vehicles (excl leased vehicles)
At cost 3,595 3,731
Accumulated depreciation (2,535) (2,781)

1,060 950

Leased Plant and Vehicles 755 755
At cost (410) (220)
Accumulated Depreciation 345 535

Leasehold Improvements 
At cost 313 313
Accumulated depreciation (156) (131)

157 182

Works of art
At fair value (ii) 38 26

38 26

Work in progress
At cost 994 73

994 73

206,122 210,480
 

(i) Land and Buildings were re-valued as at 1 July 2012 by the Western Australian Land Information 
Authority (Valuation Services). These desktop valuations were performed during the year ended 30 June 
2012. The fair value of all land and buildings has been determined by applying the non market value and 
depreciated replacement cost method. Refer note 2(f) ‘Property, Plant, Equipment and Vehicles and 
Infrastructure’. 
(ii) The Rottnest Island artworks were independently valued by Joy Legge Art Consultant in June 2012. 
The valuation was performed on a replacement value basis. 
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2012

23 Infrastructure 
2012 2011
$000 $000

At fair value 37,767 47,227
Accumulated Depreciation (13,859)  (20,183)

23,908 27,044

2011

The revaluation of utility infrastructure was conducted in October 2012 and was performed in 
accordance with an independent valuation by Australian Valuation Partners Pty Ltd. The effective 
date of the valuation was 31 October 2012.  

The revaluation of remaining infrastructure was conducted in July 2012 and was performed in 
accordance with an independent valuation by Australian Valuation Partners Pty Ltd. The effective 
date of the valuation was 30 June 2012. 

Fair value for both revaluations was determined on the basis of depreciated replacement cost. 

$000 $000
Reconciliation
Carrying amount at start of period 27,044 28,067
Additions 925  470
Revaluation increments (2,784)  -
Disposals (63)  (3)
Depreciation expense (1,214)  (1,490)
Carrying amount at end of period 23,908 27,044

24 Intangible assets   
2012 2011
$000 $000

Right to Receive the Rottnest Dome Building 778 778
Computer software at cost 1,567 1,473
Accumulated amortisation (1,199) (914)

1,146 1,337
Reconciliation

Carrying amount at start of period 1,336 1,231
Additions 100 344
Disposals (3) -
Amortisation expense (287) (239)
Carrying amount at end of period 1,146 1,336

25 Impairment of assets

There were no indications of impairment to Property, plant, equipment and vehicles, Infrastructure 
or Intangible assets at 30 June 2012.  
The Authority held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life during the reporting 
period. At the end of the reporting period other than the right to receive the Rottnest Dome building, 
there were no intangible assets not yet available for use. 
All surplus assets at 30 June 2012 have either been classified as non-current assets held for sale 
or written off.  
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26 Payables 
2012 2011
$000 $000

Trade payables 4,899 2,887
Accrued expenses 129 113
Accrued salaries 284 125

5,312 3,125
27 Borrowings 

2012 2011
$000 $000

Current
Finance lease liabilities (secured) (a) 153                 144
Total current 153                 144

Non-current
Finance lease liabilities (secured) (a) 284                 437
Total non-current 284                437 

(a) Lease liabilities are effectively secured as the rights to the leased assets revert to the lessor in 
the event of default. 

2012 2011
$000 $000

Assets pledged as security 
The carrying amounts of non-current assets pledged as security 
are:
Buses 345 535

345 535

28 Provisions 
2012 2011
$000 $000

Current
Employee benefits provision 
Annual leave  (a) 773 748
Long service leave  (b) 719 617
Time in lieu 30 39
Superannuation  (d) 92 119
Leave purchase 13 10

1,627 1,533
Other provisions 
Employment on-costs   (c) 184 186
Sinking fund provision 14 -
Long Service Leave  on-cost provision 61 57

259 243

1,886 1,776
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Non-current
Employee benefits provision 
Long service leave  (b) 380 339
Super provision – long term 34 29
GESB Superannuation liability long term 344 335

758 703

Other provisions 
Employment on-costs   (c) 32 30

32 30
790 733

(a) Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional right to 
defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. Assessments indicate 
that actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows: 

2012 2011
$000 $000

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 411 398
More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period 362 350

773 748

(b) Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional right 
to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. Assessments 
indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows: 

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 235 219
More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period 790 737

1,025 956

(c) The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of 
employment on-costs including workers' compensation insurance. The provision is the present 
value of expected future payments. The associated expense, apart from the unwinding of the 
discount (finance cost), is disclosed in note 16 'Other Expenses'. 

(d) Defined benefit superannuation plans 
The amounts recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income are as follows: 

Pre-transfer benefit - 
Gold State

Pension Scheme Superannuation 
Scheme

2012 2011 2012 2011 
$000 $000 $000 $000 

Current service cost - - - -
Interest cost (unwinding of the discount) 14 15 3 3
Net actuarial losses/(gains) recognised 50 8 21 -

Total, included in Employee benefits expense (see note 
10 ‘Employee benefits expense’) 64 23 24 3
The amounts recognised in the Statement of Financial 
Position are as follows: 
Present value of unfunded obligations 312 284 59 50
Liability in the Statement of Financial Position 312 284 59 50
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Reconciliation of the unfunded liability recognised in the Statement of Financial 
Position is as follows: 

Pre-transfer benefit 
 

Pension Scheme 

Gold State
Superannuation  

Scheme
2012 2011 2012 2011 
$000 $000 $000 $000 

 
Liability at start of period 284 296 50 57
Current service cost - - - -
Interest cost (unwinding of the discount) 14 15 24 3
Net actuarial losses/(gains) recognised 50 8 - -
Benefits paid (36) (35) (15) (10)
Liability at end of period 312 284 59 50

Reconciliation of the fair value of plan assets is as follows: 
Fair value of plan assets at start of year - - - -
Employer contributions 36 35 10 10
Benefits paid (36) (35) (10) (10)
Fair value of plan assets at end of year - - -

The principal actuarial assumptions used (expressed as weighted averages) were as follows: 
2012 2011 

 
Discount rate 2.84% 5.28%
Future salary increases 5.50% 4.50%

Historic summary 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

  
Pension Scheme:
Present value of unfunded obligation 312 284 296 309 289 
Fair value of plan assets - - - - -
Deficit 312 284 296 309 289 

Pre-transfer Benefit - Gold State Superannuation 
 Scheme:
Present value of unfunded obligation 59 50 57 52 41
Fair value of plan assets - - - - -
Deficit 59 50 57 52 41

Experience adjustments arising on plan liabilities:
Pension Scheme 12 5 5 15 28
Pre-transfer Benefit - Gold State Superannuation 
Scheme 6 (1) 3 4 26

Employer funding arrangements for the defined benefit plans

(a) The amounts recorded for the Gold State Superannuation Scheme relate to the scheme as a 
whole (ie. The pre-transfer benefit component plus the concurrently funded benefit component).
Employer contributions of $37,000 are expected to be paid to the Pension Scheme in the 
subsequent annual reporting period.
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Movements in Other Provisions
Movements in each class of provisions during the financial year, other than employee benefits, are set 
out below. 

2012 2011
$000 $000

Employment on-cost provision
Carrying amount at start of period 272 130
Additional provisions recognised 95 195
Payments / other sacrifices of economic benefits (76) (53)
Carrying amount at end of period 291 272

29 Other Liabilities     
  2012 2011
  $000 $000

Current liabilities
Refundable deposits and bonds 7,678 8,376
Leases in advance 100 100
Deferred Income 658 661
Unclaimed money 100 55
General Provisions 201 75
Total current 8,737 9,267

Non-current liabilities 
Leases in advance 933 1,033
Total non-current 933 1,033

30 Equity     
    

Contributed Equity   2012 2011
  $000 $000

Balance at start of period 50,032 50,032
Total contributions by owners 50,032 50,032

Reserves   
Asset revaluation surplus   
Balance at the start of period   187,842 187,840
Net revaluation increments/decrements     
  Plant & Vehicles   - 2
  Infrastructure   (2,784) -
  Land   300 -
  Buildings   (3,763) -
  Artworks   19 
Balance at end of period  181,614 187,842

  
Retained Earnings 
Balance at start of period 5,817 3,700
Result for the period  (1,060) 2,117
Balance at end of period 4,758 5,817

Total equity at end of period 236,404 243,691
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31 Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows 
Reconciliation of Cash
Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled to 
the related items in the Statement of Financial Position as follows: 

2012 2011
$000 $000

Cash and cash equivalents 5,781 14,152
Other financial assets (current & non-current) 16,000 6,000

21,781 20,152

Reconciliation of profit after income tax equivalent to net cash flows provided by/(used in) 
operating activities 

Profit / (loss) for the period (1,060) 2,117
  

Non cash items:
Depreciation and amortisation expense   4,728 5,053
Net loss / (gain) on sale of property, plant and 
equipment  86 5
Doubtful debts expense   20 (9)
Grants and subsidies from State Government   (3,437) (2,245)

    
(Increase) / decrease in assets: 
Current receivables (a) (283) 293
Current inventories (15) 105

Increase / (decrease) in liabilities:
Current Payables (a) 2,187  (1,793)
Current Provisions 111 168
Other liabilities (531)  (560)
Non-current provisions 56 53
Non-current liabilities (100) (100)
Net GST receipts / (payments) (b)

Change in GST receivables / payables (c) (69) 12

Net cash provided by / (used in) operating activities 1,693 3,099

a) Note that the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) receivable / payable in respect of GST and the 
receivable / payable in respect of the sale / purchase of non-current assets are not included in 
these items as they do not form part of the reconciling items. 
(b) This is the net GST paid / received, i.e. cash transactions 
(c) This reverses out the GST in receivables and payables 
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32 Commitments
The commitments below are exclusive of GST where relevant.

Capital expenditure commitments
2012 2011
$000 $000

Capital expenditure commitments, being contracted capital 
expenditure additional to the amounts reported in the financial 
statements, are payable as follows:
Within 1 year 1,362 876

1,362 876

The capital commitments include amounts for: 
Buildings 26  490
Infrastructure 1,136  242
Plant Equipment and Vehicles 90 98
Software Development 110  46

1,362 876

Other expenditure commitments  
  2012 2011
  $000 $000

Other expenditure commitments of $313,000 contracted for at the 
end of the reporting period but not recognised as liabilities, are 
payable as follows:  
Within 1 year   275 -
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years   38 -

  313 -

Non-cancellable operating lease commitments     
  2012 2011
  $000 $000

Commitments in relation to leases contracted for at the balance 
sheet date but not recognised as liabilities are payable as follows:  
Within 1 year 310 297
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 1,039 1,129
Later than 5 years - 149

1,349  1,575

Office accommodation is rented under commercial leases and rent is payable monthly in 
advance. The leases run for six years, with options of a further five years. The rentals are subject 
to review on predetermined dates based on either fixed percentage, CPI or market review 
adjustments. 

Office equipment is leased over four year terms with charges payable monthly in advance.  
Options exist to continue leasing beyond the expiry date or to purchase at residual value. 
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Finance Lease commitments 2012 2011
$000 $000

Minimum lease payment commitments in relation to finance leases 
are payable as follows: 
Within 1 year 174 174
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 301 476
Minimum finance lease payments 476 650
Less future finance charges (39) (69)
Present value of finance lease liabilities 437 581

The present value of finance leases payable is as follows: 
Within 1 year 192 144
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 245 437
Present value of finance lease liabilities 437 581

Included in the financial statements as: 
Current (note 27 ‘Borrowings’) 192 144
Non-current (note 27 ‘Borrowings’) 245 437

437 581

The Authority has the option to purchase leased assets at their agreed fair value on expiry of the 
lease. These leasing arrangements do not have escalation clauses, other than in the event of 
payment default. There are no restrictions imposed by these leasing arrangements on other 
financing transactions. Certain finance leases have a contingent rental obligation; however these 
are not material when compared to the total lease payments made. 

33 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets 
In addition to the assets and liabilities included in the financial statements, the Authority has the 
following contingent assets and liabilities

Contingent Liabilities

Treatment of Contaminated Sites
Under the Contaminated Sites Act 2003, the Authority is required to report known and suspected 
contaminated sites to the Department of Environment and Conservation (DEC). In accordance 
with the Act, DEC classifies these sites on the basis of the risk to human health, the environment 
and environmental values. Where sites are classified as contaminated – remediation required or 
possibly contaminated – investigation required, the Authority may have a liability in respect of 
investigation or remediation expenses. 

During the 2011-2012 financial year the Authority reported two suspected contaminated sites to 
DEC. DEC advised that one site was not contaminated and no further investigations were 
required. The other site investigation report is currently being reviewed by DEC to provide 
recommendations on further investigations and management of the contamination. The Authority 
is unable to assess the likely outcome of the classification process, and accordingly, it is not 
practicable to estimate the potential financial effect or to identify the uncertainties relating to the 
amount or timing of any outflows. Whilst there is no possibility of reimbursement of any future 
expenses that may be incurred in the remediation of the sites, the Authority may apply for 
funding from the Contaminated Sites Management Account to undertake further investigative 
work or to meet remediation costs that may be required. 

34 Events occurring after the end of the reporting period 
There are no events that occurred after Statement of Financial Position date which would 
materially affect the financial statements.
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35 Explanatory statement 

Significant variations between estimates and actual results for the financial year 
    

Details and reasons for significant variations between estimates and actual results for 2012 and 
between the actual results for 2011 and 2012 are shown below. Significant variations are 
considered to be those greater than 10% or $100,000. 

Estimate 
 2012 

Actual 
2012 Variance Variance

%$000 $000 $000
Sales 70 257  (187) (73)%
Interest revenue 840 1,066 (226) (21)%
Depreciation and amortisation 5,400 4,728 672 14%

Sales
The 2012 actual sales include revenue from Island activities that the Authority now provides 
directly rather than via a third party business lease.   

Interest revenue 
The variance is due to cash balances being invested at higher interest rates than budgeted. 

Depreciation and amortisation 
The depreciation variance is due to asset additions occurring later in the year than estimated. 

Significant variances between actual results for 2011 and 2012 

Significant variations are considered to be those greater than 10% or $100,000. 

2012 2011 Variance Variance
$000 $000 $000 % 

Sales 257 132 125 95%
Other revenues 622 321 301 94%
Grants and subsidies from State 
Government 3,469 2,245 1,224 55%
Supplies and services 18,451 16,470 1,981 12%

Sales
The 2012 actual sales result includes revenue from Island activities that the Authority now 
provides directly rather than via a third party business lease. 

Other revenues 
The 2012 other revenue includes grant receipts (from non-Government sources) which did not 
occur in the 2011 year. 

Grants and subsidies from State Government 
The State Government operating grant to the Authority was increased by $1m in 2012. 

Supplies and services 
The 2011 supplies and services value was significantly impacted by the rebate for fuel tax repaid 
to the Authority by the ATO. The payment to the ATO relating to the fuel tax claim was in 2010. 
This claim is now resolved and there is no impact on the 2012 result. 
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36 Financial Instruments 

(a) Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies 
Financial instruments held by the Authority are cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and 
cash equivalents, borrowings, finance leases, Treasurer’s advances, loans and receivables and 
payables. The Authority has limited exposure to financial risks. The Authority’s overall risk 
management program focuses on managing the risks identified below. 

Credit risk
Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Authority’s receivables defaulting on their 
contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Authority.  
The maximum exposure to credit risk at end of the reporting period in relation to each class of 
recognised financial assets is the gross carrying amount of those assets inclusive of any 
provisions for impairment as shown in the table at note 36(c) ‘Financial Instrument Disclosures’ 
and note 2(n) ‘Receivables’. 
The Authority has policies in place to ensure that sales of products and services are made to 
customers with an appropriate credit history. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on 
an ongoing basis with the result that the Authority’s exposure to bad debts is minimal. At the end 
of the reporting period there were no significant concentrations of credit risk. 

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises when the Authority is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. 
The Authority is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal course of business. 
The Authority’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility 
through the use of bank overdrafts, loans and finance leases. The Authority has appropriate 
procedures to manage cash flows by monitoring forecast cash flows to ensure that sufficient 
funds are available to meet its commitments. 

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates and interest 
rates will affect the Authority’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The 
Authority does not trade in foreign currency and is not materially exposed to other price risks.  

The Authority is not exposed to interest rate risk on financial liabilities as all borrowings are 
finance leases at fixed interest rates. The table at note 36(c) details the interest rate sensitivity on 
cash and cash equivalents, all of which is invested in interest bearing accounts. 

(b) Categories of Financial Instruments
In addition to cash and cash equivalents, the carrying amounts of each of the following 
categories of financial assets and financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period are: 

2012 2011
$000 $000

Financial Assets
Cash & Cash Equivalents 5,781 14,152
Receivables (a) 1,139 877
Term deposits 16,000 6,000

Financial Liabilities
Financial Liabilities measured at amortised cost 5,533 3,706

(a) The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable) 
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Interest rate sensitivity analysis

- 100 basis 
points +100 basis points 

Carrying
Amount

Profit Equity Surplus Equity

2012 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 5,781 (58) (58) 58 58
Term deposits 16,000 (160) (160) 160 160

21,781 (218) (218) 218 218

- 100 basis 
points +100 basis points 

Carrying
Amount

Profit Equity Surplus Equity

2011 ($'000) ($'000) ($'000) ($'000)
($'000

)

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 14,152 (142) (142) 142 142
Term deposits 6,877 (69) (69) 69 69

Financial Liabilities
Bank Overdraft 315 3 3 (3) (3)
Finance Lease Liabilities 581 6 6 (6) (6)

(205) (205) 205 205

(d)  Fair values  
All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the Statement of Financial Position, whether they 
are carried at cost or fair value, are recognised at amounts that represent a reasonable 
approximation of fair value unless otherwise stated in the applicable notes. 

37 Remuneration of members of the accountable authority and senior officers
2012 2011
$000 $000

Remuneration of Members of the accountable authority 
The number of members of the accountable authority, whose 
total of fees, salaries, superannuation, non monetary benefits 
and other benefits for the financial year, fall within the following 
bands are:  
   $     
0 - 10,000   - 6
10,001 – 20,000   5 -
20,001 - 30,000   1 1
The total remuneration of members of the Accountable       
Authority is:  93 59

    
The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Authority in respect 
of members of the Accountable Authority.  

No members of the Accountable Authority are members of the Pension Scheme. 
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2012 2011
$000 $000

Remuneration of Senior Officers
The number of senior officers, other than senior officers reported as members of the accountable 
authority, whose total of fees, salaries, superannuation, non monetary benefits and other benefits 
for the financial year fall within the following bands are:  
   $ 

 30,001  -  40,000 1 -
 40,001  -  50,000 - 1
 80,001  -   90,000 - 1
 90,001 – 100,000 1 -
100,001 - 110,000 - 1

   110,001 - 120,000 - 1
120,001 - 130,000 - 1
130,001 - 140,000 2 -
140,001 - 150,000 1 2
150,001 – 160,000 2 1
180,001 - 190,000 1 -

   240,001 – 250,000 1 -
   250,001 – 260,000 - 1
The total remuneration of senior officers  1,304 1,160

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Authority in respect 
of senior officers other than senior officers reported as members of the accountable authority. 

No senior officers are members of the Pension Scheme.   

38 Remuneration of auditor  
Remuneration paid or payable to the Auditor General in respect 
of the audit for the current financial year is as follows:   

 2012 2011
 $000 $000

Auditing the accounts, financial statements and performance 
indicators 91 84

The amounts disclosed above differ from the amounts recognised in note 16 ‘Other expenses’ 
and represent current and final audit fees for the current year financial statement. 

39 Supplementary  financial information  
    

(a) Write-offs approved by the Board  
  2012 2011
 $000 $000

Amounts already provided for and written off as 
uncollectible 869 29

869 29

(b) Losses through theft, defaults and other causes 
 2012 2011
 $000 $000

Net cash shortage  2 -
 2 -
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40 Schedule of Income and Expenses by service
Segment information has been disclosed by service. The two services of the Authority are: 
Service 1: Provision of Services to Visitors
This service relates to the provision and operation of affordable recreational and holiday facilities with 
particular regard for the needs of persons usually resident in the State, and who wish to visit or stay on the 
Island as a family group.
Service 2: Conservation of the Natural and Built Environment
This service relates to the maintenance and protection of the Island’s natural and built environment.

The Authority operates within one geographical segment (the Western Australian public sector). 

Services to 
Visitors

Conservation 
of Environment 

Total

2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

INCOME 
Revenue  

Sales 255 132 2 - 257 132
Provision of services 28,487 30,477 1 30 28,488 30,507 
Commonwealth grants and 
contributions - - 6   - 6   -

Interest revenue 1,066 1,172 -   - 1,066 1,172
Other revenues 557 293 65 28 622 321
Gains -
Gains on disposal of non-current 
assets - - -   - -   -

Total Income 30,365 32,075 74 58 30,439 32,132 
EXPENSES

Cost of sales 149 109 - - 149 109

Employee benefits expense 8,411 7,735 2,193 2,061 10,604 9,796 

Supplies and services 16,674 14,855 1,777 1,617 18,451 16,471 
Depreciation and amortisation 
expense 4,391 4,404 336 650 4,727 5,054

Finance costs 218 195 30 29 248 224

Accommodation expenses 348 211 46 31 394 242

Loss on disposal of non-c assets        75           5 10 - 85 5

Other expenses 326 296   77 64 403 360

Total Expenses 30,592 27,809 4,469 4,452 35,061 32,260 
Profit/(loss) before grants and 
subsidies from State Government (227) 4,266 (4,395) (4,394) (4,622) (128)
Grants and subsidies from State 
Government 2,447 1,942 1,021 303 3,468 2,245 
Services received free of charge 83 - 11 - 94 -
Profit / (loss) for the period 2,303 6,208 (3,363) (4,091) (1,060) 2,117
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CERTIFICATION OF KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012 

We hereby certify that the performance indicators are based on proper 
records, are relevant and appropriate for assisting users to assess the 
Rottnest Island Authority’s performance and fairly represent the performance 
of the Rottnest Island Authority for the financial year ended 30 June 2012. 

John Driscoll   Robert McDonald  Othmar Beerli 
Chairman  Member           Chief Finance Officer 
17 September 2012   17 September 2012   17 September 2012 
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Desired Outcome 

Rottnest Island visitors enjoy recreational and holiday experiences in healthy natural and cultural 
environments. 

The Authority’s key performance indicators (KPIs) provide a guide to its performance regarding its 
stated outcome.  State public sector policy requires effectiveness and efficiency indicators to 
demonstrate this performance.  By their nature, these indicators are very high level and attempt to 
encompass all the Authority’s operations and costs.  For example, the efficiency indicators are 
required to include all relevant costs, including corporate overheads, for each of the two services.   

The relationship between the Authority’s KPIs, outcome and services is outlined in the table below.  

Government Goal: Social and Environmental Responsibility  

Ensuring that economic activity is managed in a socially and environmentally responsible manner for 
the long-term benefit of the State. 

Key Performance Indicators   Services Provided to the 
Community 

EFFECTIVENESS
 Visitor Satisfaction with the Rottnest Island experience 
 Health of Island’s natural environment 
 Health of Island’s cultural heritage  

EFFICIENCY
 Average cost of recreational and holiday services provided per visitor 
 Average cost of natural environment and cultural heritage management 

per Reserve hectare 

1. Recreational and 
holiday services 

2. Natural environment 
and cultural heritage 
management 

The Authority regularly reviews and amends its indicators to reflect changes in a variety of factors 
impacting the Island.  These could be visitor and community priorities for Rottnest Island, or changes 
in technology that enable more sophisticated measures to be implemented.  The Authority intends to 
amend its suite of indicators concerning the natural environment. A broader suite of indicators will be 
provided which will include measures of sustainability.  

The Authority also has a suite of operational and commercial indicators that are used to manage and 
improve its performance.  As well as comparing results to an annual target, comparisons to previous 
year’s results are included where available to enable performance trends to be identified.   

Effectiveness Indicators

1. Visitor satisfaction with the Rottnest Island Experience 

An independent research company (Savant Surveys and Strategies) is engaged to survey the 
Island’s visitors.  Visitors are selected at random and requested to complete questionnaires.  There 
were 1,904 completed questionnaires providing a confidence level of 95% with an error rate of +/- 
2.24 %.

This indicator summarises a range of aspects addressed in the survey.  Respondents are asked to 
rate Rottnest Island based on their satisfaction or perception of:  

 Recreational and holiday services and facilities; 
 General services and facilities such as public toilets and seating; 
 Accommodation facilities and services; 
 Natural environment and cultural heritage; and 
 Safety and cleanliness of the Island. 
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Respondents are asked to provide an overall rating of their experience compared to their 
expectations of their visit to Rottnest Island.  

Visitor Rating Target for
2011-12 

2011-12  
Result 

2010-11 
Result 

2009-2010 
Result 

Met or exceeded expectations  90% 97% 94% 95% 

Comments 
Rottnest Island continues to provide the vast majority of visitors with an experience that meets or 
exceeds their expectations.  

2.  Health of Rottnest Island’s Natural Environment 

This indicator uses a suite of measures regarding the management of the natural environment of 
Rottnest Island such as flora and fauna and environmental risk factors. It is based on Environment 
Australia guidelines that describe three types of measures: pressure, condition and management.  
Environmental health standards and actions are contingent to the area being monitored.  The results 
are calculated by the Authority’s own staff who are qualified in environmental management.   

The indicator comprises four aspects of the environment each with selected measures, as described 
below:  

Measure Explanatory Notes  

Terrestrial Habitat 
Number of trees planted This indicator is aimed at measuring the rate of restoring the Island’s woodland 

environment following extensive clearing of native woodlands over 100 years of 
early settlement. The number of trees planted each year provides an indicator 
of management effort and progress towards the Authority’s woodland 
restoration goal. 

Number of hectares of 
weed control 

Weeds adversely affect the environment of Rottnest Island and therefore they 
need to be constantly controlled.  This indicator provides a measure of the level 
of management action to reduce weeds using area as an indicator.   

Inland Waters 
Number of moaning frog 
sites identified  

The abundance and distribution of frogs over time is an important indicator of 
the health of aquatic ecosystems as frogs are very sensitive to changes in their 
environment such as habitat modification, pollution, disease, predation and 
climate change. Therefore, more active sites are a positive indicator of the 
natural environment.  

Marine Habitat 
Number of pollution events A pollution event is defined as a breach in Department of Health one-off trigger 

levels for the presence of Enterococci bacteria in the water column at popular 
swimming locations.  The following environmental factors are also known to 
have an influence on bacteria levels at popular bays: 
1. oceanographic variability can influence results, i.e. washing up of sea 

wrack into a popular swimming bay; 
2. rainfall events can wash animal faecal content into bays causing spikes in 

bacteria concentrations; 
3. presence of birds defecating in popular swimming bays. 

Wildlife Management 
Percentage of active 
osprey nests 

Ospreys are an important fauna species and are noted as being particularly 
sensitive to human disturbance, especially during breeding/incubation periods, 
which on Rottnest Island occur from June to December.  Therefore, more active 
sites are a positive indicator of the natural environment.    

Number of red-capped 
robins at key sites 

Bird counts are conducted by volunteers (Birds Australia) at the identified 
survey sites that are representative of both remnant vegetation and re-
vegetated plots.  A higher number of these birds are a positive indicator of the 
natural environment.  
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Measure Explanatory Notes  

Number of new pests 
discovered

Rottnest Island has several terrestrial pests due to past habitation and use. 
Some pest species have been removed from the Island (e.g., cats). Some pest 
species are well established and eradication is not a practical option (e.g., 
pheasants, mice and rats).  The management approach for the Island is to limit 
the establishment of any new pests.  Pests are identified by or reported to 
Authority field staff such as Rangers and Environment Officers.

A graded range is used to rate these four aspects of the natural environment, where an ‘A’ rating 
denotes an ideal state of condition, pressure, or management action.  Ratings of B, C, D and F 
denote lesser states of these factors (see first table below).   

A suitable annual target grading was identified for each of the four aspects.  The targets were based 
on several factors including the state of the current environment, risk factors and the Authority’s 
limited resources to implement conservation actions.  The target grading for each aspect is 
calculated by averaging the graded measures comprising each aspect.   

Because of the unique nature of Rottnest Island, it is not possible to compare results to ‘industry’ 
averages or a ‘peer’ destination.  As environmental conditions and pressures change from year to 
year, it is also not appropriate to compare to previous years’ results.   

Grading Legend: 

Grade Description  

A Good condition, pressure or management action 
B Satisfactory condition, pressure or management action 
C Acceptable condition, pressure or management action 
D Unsatisfactory condition, pressure or management action 
F Serious concern for condition, pressure or management action 

The results for the 2011-12 year are: 

Indicator Category *Target
2011-12 

2011-12 
Results 

2010-11 
Results 

2009-10 
Results 

Terrestrial Habitat C C C B

Inland Waters B A A A

Marine Habitat B A A A

Wildlife Management C B A A

* The Authority’s targets are approved by its governing body in relation to its functions under the Rottnest Island Authority Act
1987, including the conditions imposed on the Authority by the Act. For example, the Authority is only required to maintain 
and protect the natural environment to the extent to which its resources allow (s.11(2)(c)).   

Comments  
The condition and management for most aspects of the natural environment were higher than 
expected, and the reasons are discussed below.  

Terrestrial
Number of trees planted annually has decreased due to less resource availability. There was an 
increase in area of weed control due to increased effort from volunteers and contractors. 

Inland Waters 
The higher proportion of active frog sites identified (10 out of 12 sites were active) achieved a more 
positive result than expected for this measure. 

Marine Habitat 
No pollution events were detected during the year and therefore the highest possible result for this 
measure was achieved. 



86 Rottnest Island Authority

Wildlife Management
Higher than expected counts of red-capped robins (100) and a high proportion of active osprey nests 
(86%) helped achieve positive results for this measure. 

3. Health of Rottnest Island’s Cultural Heritage  

This indicator comprises three aspects which are monitored by selected measures to indicate 
the state of Rottnest Island’s cultural heritage.  The results for the measures are reported as 
a percentage of the ‘ideal state’.  The measures are calculated by Authority staff who are 
qualified in cultural heritage management. The results for the measures of Rottnest Island’s 
cultural heritage are listed below:  

Aspect  Measure  
*2011-12
Target 

%

2011-12 
Result 

%

2010-11 
Result 

%

2009-10
Results  

%
The proportion of heritage listed places 
with statements of significance 70-89 75 72 72

Identification The proportion of collection heritage items 
recorded on database compared to 
currently known number of items 

70-89 99 80 72

Protection 
The proportion of developments that follow 
heritage legal requirements and 
conservation policies  

90-100 83 82 89 

The proportion of State-registered places 
meeting condition targets 70-89 73 67 66

Conservation The proportion of State-registered places 
with conservation plans less than 10 years 
old

<29 13 13 45

* The Authority’s targets are approved by its governing body in relation to its functions under the Rottnest Island Authority Act
1987, including the conditions imposed on the Authority by the Act.  For example, the Authority is only required to maintain 
and protect the man-made resources to the extent to which its resources allow (s.11(2)(c)).   

Comments  

Identification 

There are 142 places on the Authority’s Heritage Asset Register, of which 61 are heritage-
listed with the Heritage Council of Western Australia (HCWA), and 14 Aboriginal sites 
registered with the Department of Indigenous Affairs (DIA) under the Aboriginal Heritage Act 
1972. Performance in these areas was increased to 75% of all 142 heritage places having 
Statements of Significance. 

Collections management has retained a focus of recording heritage collection items resulting 
in a significant amount of accessioned items for the year (393 objects and photographs). It is 
estimated that the total number of items is approximately 2000. This total is adjusted annually 
based on the discovery of stored but unrecorded artefacts and new acquisitions.  

Protection 

The majority of developments that required heritage assessment complied with heritage guidelines.  

Conservation 

The Authority continues to maintain and repair its heritage buildings and structures focusing 
not only on the high use visitor areas but also on more remote but significant military 
buildings.  A total average score for State-registered places (Buildings and Other) meeting 
condition targets for 2011-12 was 73%, which was within the bracket score of 70-89%.   

In relation to current ‘conservation plans’, the Authority is not able to allocate the required 
funding to this area of cultural heritage management. There are 61 State-registered HCWA 
places and 14 State-registered DIA places (total 75). Of these 75 places, 10 (13%) have 
conservation plans ten years old or less.  
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The reduced number of places having conservation plans ten years old or less is mainly due 
to places in areas such as Kingstown and Thomson Bay Settlement, having Conservation 
Plans older than ten years.  

Efficiency Indicators

Service One: Recreational and Holiday Services  

This indicator reflects the cost of providing Rottnest Island’s recreational and holiday services on a 
per visitor basis. The term ‘Visitors’ is determined from the number of people arriving by commercial 
ferry services only.  The indicator is intended to track the level of resources used to service Rottnest 
Island visitors.   

The indicator is calculated by dividing the total annual cost of providing all holiday and recreation 
related services to visitors, by the number of visitors for the year.   

Title  Target 
2011-12* 

2011-12 
Result 

2010-11 
Result 

2009-10 
Result 

2008-09 
Result** 

Average cost of recreational and 
holiday services provided per visitor $89 $104 $84 $99 $78

* Target based on the annual budget allocated to this service.  
** Results for this comparative year have been amended in accordance with a correction to the financial statements for the 

year.

Comments:   

The average cost per visitor was above expectations as well as greater than the previous year.  This 
result was caused by the significant decrease in visitor numbers (37,000) compared to last year 
which resulted in the average cost per visitor increasing as expenditure for this service was similar to 
the previous year. 

Service Two: Natural Environment and Cultural Heritage Management 

This indicator concerns the cost of managing Rottnest Island’s natural environment and cultural 
heritage.  Its purpose is to track the level of resources used for this purpose.  

The indicator is calculated by dividing the total cost of managing the natural environment and cultural 
heritage by the Rottnest Island Reserve’s total area of 5,669 hectares.  The Reserve refers to the 
land and waters defined in Part 1 of the Rottnest Island Authority Act 1987. 

Title  Target 
2011-12* 

2011-12 
Result 

2010-11 
Result 

2009-10 
Result 

2008-09 
Result** 

Average cost of natural environment 
and cultural heritage management 
per Reserve hectare 

$723     $790 $792 $613 $707 

* Target based on the annual budget allocated to this service.  
** Results for this comparative year have been amended in accordance with a correction to the financial statements for the 

year.

OTHER FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES  

Pricing Policies

The Rottnest Island Authority Act 1987 requires that overall revenue is adequate to meet the 
Authority’s expenditure. Therefore, the Act allows the Authority to have a pricing policy whereby 
commercial services are priced to recover the cost of its commercial and non-commercial operations 
such as environmental and cultural heritage management.  Prices are set to achieve these 
objectives, and are regularly reviewed and take into account market sensitivities and 
competitiveness.  
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The prevailing fees and charges are either ‘unregulated’, such as accommodation and recreational 
services, and only require Authority approval, or ‘regulated’ such as admission and mooring fees 
which are proposed by the Authority for approval by Government.  

Several fees and charges were increased in 2011-12, mostly in line with the Consumer Price Index, 
consistent with the Authority’s strategic objectives.  

Capital Investment  

More than $3.4 million was spent on capital works including the following major items:   

o Replacement of West End Boardwalk  
o Geordie Bay Jetty Upgrade 
o Campground upgrade 

Human Resources  

The complex nature of the Authority’s business is reflected in a wide variety of occupational groups 
within the organisation which range from customer service and sales representatives to coach 
captains, environmental scientists and educators, professionals and administrators. In addition, 
trainees and cadets are sponsored to support indigenous youth development. The seasonal nature 
of the business is an additional challenge for the Authority as it strives to match its workforce to meet 
visitor demands. 

In early May, employees participated in the Public Sector Commission’s Employee Perception 
Survey.  Results from the survey will assist the Authority in addressing staff concerns and maintain 
and improve employee satisfaction in any identified areas.  

Employee Data  
Year ending June  

2012
June
2011

June
2010

Permanent  83 83 85
Fixed Term 42 42 34
Casual 14 18 18
Total Headcount 139 143 137
Full Time Equivalents  110 117 111

GOVERNANCE DISCLOSURES 

Members of the Rottnest Island Authority 
The Authority’s governing body is appointed by the Governor on the nomination of the Minister for 
Tourism for terms not exceeding three years and members may be re-appointed. Members are 
selected according to their experience relevant to the Authority’s operations. Profiles of the members 
of the Board of the Authority, together with details of meeting attendance, are set out below. 

Chairman

Laurie O'Meara AM was appointed as a member of the Authority in June 2000 and took over the 
Chair in April 2004. Mr O’Meara is a past president of Tourism Council Western Australia and 
champion of the Tourism Accreditation Program. He was the inaugural President of the Australian 
Tourism Accreditation Association. From 2002 until 2008 Mr O’Meara was the Deputy Chair of 
Tourism Western Australia, the State organisation charged with marketing the State both nationally 
and internationally.  

Mr O'Meara's extensive experience includes operation of the Emerald Hotel in Perth for twenty 
years. Mr O’Meara was awarded a Centenary Medal in the year 2000 and in 2006 was the winner of 
the prestigious Sir David Brand Medal for services to tourism. In the 2007 Queen’s Birthday Honours 
list he was honoured as a member of the Order of Australia (AM) for his services to tourism 
accreditation, tourism, heritage and the arts. At the 2009 Qantas Australian Tourism Awards, Mr 
O’Meara received the “Outstanding Contribution by an Individual (National)” award for his 
outstanding achievements in the Australian Tourism Accreditation Program. 
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Deputy Chairman 

John Driscoll was appointed a member and Deputy Chairman of the Authority in December 2010. 
John’s formal qualifications include a Bachelor’s Degree in Economics and a Master of Business 
Administration. He became Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Marketforce in 2003 following a 
15-year career with Marketforce, commencing as Group Media Director in 1989, through to the 
position of Managing Director in 2002. 

John’s standing as one of the State’s leading marketers is reflected in his commitment to support 
organisations dedicated to improving professionalism in our industry.  He is Chair to the Senior 
Advisory Panel of Marketing for the Curtin Business School, past Chairman of the Communications 
Council of Western Australia, Board Member of Trinity College and Chairman of Crime Stoppers 
Western Australia. 

John has been holidaying at Rottnest for almost 50 years and is an active member of Rottnest’s 
boating community. He is a past Committee Member of the Rottnest Channel Swim Association and 
is a regular competitor in this event. 

Chairman, Rottnest Island Authority Finance and Audit Committee

Robert McDonald (B.Bus CPA MAICD) was appointed in July 2011. Rob is the principal of Tiderock 
Consulting, specialising in management, organisational and financial reviews of Government 
organisations. He has broad experience in finance, human resources, change management, policy 
development and information technology. 

Rob is an experienced Director in the Government and Not for Profit sectors. He is a non-executive 
director at the Centre for Cerebral Palsy, Community First International, and the Forest Products 
Commission. Rob is also Chair of the Governing Council for the North Metropolitan Health Service. 

In his 32-year public sector career in the Western Australian State Government concluding in 2009, 
Rob held a number of senior executive positions, such as Executive Director at Western Australia 
Police, Director of Agency Resources at the Department of Treasury, Chief Executive Officer at the 
State Supply Commission and Director of Finance at Western Australia Police. 

Suzanne Hunt (B.App Sci, B.Arch (Hons) ARCUK AIA) was appointed to the Authority in May 2010. 
Suzanne is a registered architect with more than 25 years’ experience in Western Australia and 
overseas. She is principal of a boutique architectural and interior design practice, Suzanne Hunt 
Architect Pty Ltd, founded in 2004, and has worked in both the private and public sectors at all 
management levels. Suzanne has experience in architectural and interior design, documentation, 
contract administration and strategic management on contemporary and heritage developments in 
all sectors. Her architectural experience in metropolitan and regional Western Australia, as well as 
the United Kingdom, incorporates the philosophies of contemporary design within a contextual 
basis.   

Suzanne’s involvement with architectural conservation and adaptive reuse began soon after 
graduation, working in the United Kingdom as a project design architect on the refurbishment of 
listed industrial buildings into residential apartments in the 1980s.  From 1991 to 1996 she was 
employed by the Building Management Authority as the Project Architect for the Fremantle Prison 
Conservation and Future Use Projects; a Project Leader for the Supreme Court Building Perth, and 
Parliament House studies. In 2004-05 she worked with the Department of Justice providing heritage 
advice on prison projects concurrently sitting on the Heritage Council’s Development Committee 
(2004-2006).  From 2005 to 2010 she was appointed, on behalf of the Heritage Council of WA, as 
the inaugural Metropolitan Heritage Advisor for both the City of Subiaco and the Town of Cottesloe. 

Sally Hollis was appointed to the Authority in December 2010. Sally has worked in tourism, 
hospitality and event management industries in Western Australia and the United Kingdom for more 
than 25 years. She was a founding director of the Australian Tourism Accreditation Association and 
the Executive Officer of Tourism Council Western Australia from 2000 to 2005. She is currently the 
National Project Manager of the Australian Tourism Accreditation Program and the Grants and 
Projects Manager with the Tourism Council. She was one of three State representatives on the 
Federal Minister for Tourism’s National Tourism Accreditation Framework Working Group (2008-10). 
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Sally has worked with the Department of Environment and Conservation, the Western Australian 
Indigenous Tourism Operators Council, and other tourism environmental stakeholders to develop 
guidelines that encourage tourism businesses to work towards best practice standards in 
environmental management and cultural and social sustainability.  She was awarded the Pacific Asia 
Travel Association ‘Face of the Future’ in 2005 and has been an active member of a range of 
National and State advisory boards and committees. Sally is a regular holiday maker on Rottnest 
Island and is a keen participant of the Rottnest Channel Swim and Swim Thru. 

Peter Hick was appointed to the Authority in August 2011.  He is a semi-retired scientist who during 
a 30 year career reached Senior Principal Research Scientist status within CSIRO and has a PhD in 
the field of Marine Physics and Remote Sensing.  He specialised in biophysical research for 
terrestrial and aquatic environments and has written more than 140 publications including books and 
international journals.  Since retiring from the CSIRO he has continued his research on the localised 
effects of climate variability, coastal dynamics and long-term trend in vegetation and natural 
biodiversity.  He is Deputy Chair of the Peel-Harvey Catchment Council, on the Board of the South 
West Catchment Council Association and is a director of a bio-medical research company that is 
developing the large scale production of polyclonal antibodies in milk for human consumption. 

Peter is an experienced yachtsman, keen diver and surfer, enjoys fishing and has published books 
on sailing and maritime history. He has spent more than 20 years in various executive positions at 
Yacht Clubs in WA and has spent a lifetime as a visitor to Rottnest.  His emphasis while on the 
Authority is to reinforce the importance of the environmental challenges at Rottnest Island and to 
address issues on behalf of the boating community. 

Denis Glennon AO was appointed to the Authority in August 2009. Denis has over 30 years of 
commercial and industrial experience at senior management and Board levels in the fields of 
sustainability, technology development and assessment, environmental management, and the 
delivery of environmental engineering projects across Australia and internationally.  Denis has 
provided policy advice to local, state and national governments, served as Chair of Environment 
Business Australia for three years and is the longest serving member (12 years) of the Western 
Australian Environmental Protection Authority.  In 2000 he was appointed an Officer in the General 
Division of the Order of Australia for “service to environmental protection through the management, 
control and treatment of industrial and hazardous wastes”.  Mr Glennon completed his term during 
the year. 

Member Appointed Number of 
applicable meetings 

for 2011-12 

Meetings 
attended 

Designation 

Laurie O’Meara AM June
2000 11 11

Chairman appointed by the Governor on 
the nomination of the Minister under 
S6(1)(a) of the Act. 

John Driscoll December 
2010 11 11 Deputy Chairman appointed by the 

Minister under S6(3) of the Act 

Suzanne Hunt May  
2010 11 11

Member appointed under S6(2)(b) of the 
Act – a person who has practical 
knowledge of and experience in the 
preservation of buildings of historic value. 

Sally Hollis December 
2010 11 9

Member appointed under S6(2)(a) of the 
Act – a person who has practical 
knowledge of and experience in the 
conservation of the environment. 

Robert McDonald July  
2011 11 10

Member appointed under S6(2)(c) of the 
Act –  a person who is of sound 
commercial experience. 

Peter Hick August
2011 10 10

Member appointed under S6(2)(d) of the 
Act – a person who is a regular user of the 
Island for recreational purposes. 

Term Concluded 

Denis Glennon AO August
2009 1 1

Member appointed under S6(2)(d) of the 
Act – a person who is a regular user of the 
Island for recreational purposes. 
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Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance  
An insurance premium has been taken out to indemnify Authority members against any liability 
incurred under sections 13 or 14 of the Statutory Corporations (Liability of Directors) Act 1996.

Finance and Audit Committee  
The objective of the Finance and Audit Committee is to report and where appropriate, make 
recommendations to the Authority on financial, audit and risk related matters, to monitor the financial 
management and to ensure risk management is effective. 

The Committee consists of three Authority members, one of whom shall act as Chairperson.  The 
Authority appoints the members of the Committee for an initial period not exceeding three years after 
which they may be eligible for extension or re-appointment. 

Resource staff for the Committee includes the Chief Executive Officer (CEO), Chief Financial Officer, 
General Manager Governance, Strategy and Support, Manager Internal Audit, the Management 
Accountant, and any additional staff identified by the CEO in consultation with the Chairperson. 

The Committee met on 10 occasions during the year.  

OTHER LEGAL REQUIREMENTS 
Advertising  
Advertising Agencies Nil

Savant Surveys & Strategies $26,868 Market Research $125,018 
TNS                                        $98,150

Polling Nil Nil
Direct Mail Nil Nil

Optimum Media Decisions    $66,169
Adcorp                                   $13,310

 Media Advertising $  93,379 

Direct Marketing                    $13,900

Disability Access and Inclusion Plan Outcomes 

The Authority continued providing access-friendly services for people with disabilities in line with the 
six outcomes of its Disability Access and Inclusion Plan 2007-2012.

People with disabilities have the same opportunities as other people to access the services 
of and any events organised by the Rottnest Island Authority.

All events and information about Rottnest Island are developed with consideration for people with 
special needs. The Authority continued its commitment to the Companion Card program for Island 
tours, transport and bike hire. 

People with disabilities have the same opportunities as other people to access the buildings 
and other facilities of the Rottnest Island Authority.

The Authority’s Sustainable Development Guidelines require consideration of disability access for all 
proposals.  Access-friendly accommodation is available for those requiring this facility as are 
motorised wheelchairs (gophers), adult 'trikes' and tandem bikes and a bus with wheelchair lift / 
coach with wheelchair hoist. 

People with disabilities receive information from the Rottnest Island Authority in a format that 
will enable them to access the information as readily as other people.

The Authority supports the You’re Welcome WA access initiative.  People can find information about 
disabled access on Rottnest Island on the Authority’s website at www.rottnestisland.com. Alternative 
format information is provided via virtual tours of accommodation units and free audio podcasts 
about the Island and its history. The website complies with the State Government Access 
Guidelines for Information, Services and Facilities.
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People with disabilities receive the same level and quality of service from the staff of the 
Rottnest Island Authority as other people.

Providing a friendly and welcoming service is one of the Authority’s values and operating principles.  
Regular staff training ensures that customers receive the same level and quality of service.   

People with disabilities have the same opportunities as other people to make complaints to 
the Rottnest Island Authority. 

The Authority actively encourages people to provide feedback and offers a variety of means for this: 
telephone, post, email and fax or by completing the ‘contact us’ form on the website.  All formal 
complaints are registered and followed up appropriately in order to achieve resolution.  

People with disabilities have the same opportunities as other people to participate in any 
public consultation by the Rottnest Island Authority.

Public consultation is advertised in the media and on the Authority’s website.  Feedback can be 
provided in electronic or written format. 

Compliance with Public Sector Standards and Ethical Codes  

The Authority continues to fully comply with all Public Sector Standards. 

The Authority focused its attention on continuing to implement a high standard of ethical decision 
making. To achieve this, the Authority has trained managers and supervisors in accountability and 
ethical decision making.  Further courses for all staff are planned in the next year.  An Ethical 
Decision Making Guide has been drafted and a copy will be provided to all staff once it has been 
approved and finalised.  

Recordkeeping Plan  

The Authority’s Recordkeeping Plan was approved by the State Records Commission in December 
2005. A review was undertaken last year and an updated Recordkeeping Plan was provided to the 
State Records Office in June 2011. 

Within the Authority, recordkeeping compliance is achieved by: 

 Maintaining the system infrastructure at latest release levels to ensure equivalence with 
required standards; 

 Regularly auditing the use of the TRIM Context recordkeeping system to ensure its 
effectiveness and efficiency in meeting compliance and operational requirements;  

 Ensuring the Authority Induction Program provides new employees with information 
regarding their recordkeeping roles and responsibilities;  

 Ensuring all new staff successfully complete an online Recordkeeping Awareness course;  
 Providing all relevant employees with TRIM Records Management training;  
 Regularly providing employees with information on contemporary recordkeeping practices; 

and
 Providing ongoing assistance to TRIM users.  

Substantive Equality  

The Authority is committed to the elimination of systemic discrimination from all its policies, practices 
and services. The Human Resources Officer is now trained in and acts as a Contact Officer, to be 
the first point of contact to deal with complaints related to inappropriate and potentially unlawful 
behaviour. 

Occupational Safety, Health and Injury Management  

In accordance with the Occupational Safety and Heath Act 1984, the Authority and its Executive 
continues to be committed to providing and maintaining a safe and healthy environment for its 
visitors, staff, volunteers and contractors where the risk of harm is as low as reasonably possible. 
This commitment is evident in that the Authority has recently reviewed its Occupational Safety and 
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Health (OSH) Policy to ensure that it meets the legislative requirements. A Workplace Health and 
Safety Strategy has been developed that aims to have a coordinated approach to OSH that will 
include developing, implementing and maintaining the Authority’s policies, procedures and systems.   

Injury Management System  

The Authority has an injury management policy, which specifies that it will comply with all of the 
requirements of the Workers’ Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981 which includes the 
development of effective return to work plans.  

The Authority is strongly committed to consulting with staff in relation to OSH matters, and enabling 
all staff to contribute to decisions that may affect their safety and health at work. The OSH 
Committee has continued to operate with meetings held monthly.  There are eight trained OSH 
representatives who play an important part in the investigation of hazards and reporting of incidents 
to the Committee. Regular workplace inspections are conducted by the representatives.   

The Authority was able to meet two out of the five targets set out by the 2007-12: Code of Practice: 
Occupational Safety and Health in the Western Australian Public Sector. This is outlined below.  
There were only two claims/injuries resulting in lost time for the year and some of the results are not 
a true reflection of the improvement in the overall safety, health and injury management at the 
Authority.

Indicator Target 2011–12 Results 
Number of fatalities Nil Achieved - Nil 
Lost Time Injury/Disease (LTI/D) Incidence 
Rate

Nil or 10% improvement 
on previous 3 years 

Achieved – 1.8% 
(decreased from 12.9% in 
2010-11)  

Lost Time Injury Severity Rate Nil or 10% improvement 
on previous 3 years 

Not achieved - 50% (one 
severe injury from two 
total claims this year – nil 
result for previous 3 
years)

Percentage of injured workers returned to 
work within 26 weeks 

Greater than or equal to 
80%

Not achieved - 50% (two 
claims during 2011-12 
with one severe injury) 

Percentage of managers formally trained in 
OSH and Injury Management responsibilities 

Greater than or equal to 
80%

Not achieved. 50% of 
managers have 
undertaken training 

Occupational Safety and Health Initiatives  

Initiatives to improve occupational health included a Workplace Health and Safety Strategy that 
covers: 

 Policy/procedures outlining clear guidelines for everyone in the workplace. 
 Communication and consultation with all stakeholders on health and safety matters in the 

workplace. 
 Planning a systematic approach to health and safety and delivery of clear roles and 

responsibilities.
 Implementation of safe work practices and procedures, and ensures control measures are in 

place to encourage safe operation in all aspects of the business. 
 Assessment, ensuring that audits are carried out to measure performance and compliance 

of the organisation and seek continual improvement. 
 Management commitment that a review process is in place to ensure that all health and 

safety matters are reviewed and corrective measures are implemented from lessons 
learned. 

 An assessment of the OSH management system to be completed using a recognised 
assessment tool. 
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Accommodation charges Facilities and tours Admission Fees

Lease and licence income Other income

Employee benefits Contractors

Other operating expenditure Depreciation and amortisationState Government grants and subsidies

Income 2011-2012 Expenses 2011-2012

Financial Estimates 2012-13 

As required under Treasurer’s Instruction 953 the annual financial estimates for the Rottnest Island 
Authority for the 2012-13 financial year are provided in the following table: 

ROTTNEST ISLAND AUTHORITY
Budget 2012-2013

$'000s
INCOME
Revenue
Sales 58
Provision of service 29,107
Commonwealth grants and contributions -
Interest revenue 900
Other revenues 320
Gains
Gains on disposal of non-current assets -
Total Income 30,385

EXPENSES
Cost of sales 138
Employee benefits expense 10,035
Supplies and services 19,076
Depreciation and amortisation 4,986
Finance costs 204
Accommodation 362
Loss on disposal of non-current assets -
Other expenses 294
Total Expenses 35,096

(4,711)

Grants and subsidies from State Government 4,800
Services received free of charge -

Profit / (Loss) for the period 89

Loss before grants and subsidies from State 
Government


